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Our Purpose

Building sustainable prosperity through extraordinary banking experiences

Our Mission

To be loved for our passion and excellence

Our Values
• Authenticity: Being true to who we are and what we do
• Simplicity : Making things easy & transparent
• Partnership : Working together as one
• Innovation : Embracing change and new ideas for continuous improvement
• Responsibility : Having integrity & ownership in everything we do
• Excellence : Delivering the best
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Chairman’s Statement

Dear Shareholders,
It is my pleasure, on behalf of the Board of Directors, the management and staff of the Commercial Bank of Dubai, to
review the annual report of the Commercial Bank of Dubai for the year ended on December 31st 2016, and the political
and economic developments during the year.
2016 was marked by recovery in oil prices, fears of a hard
landing in China and a strengthening US economy. There
was volatility in currency, bond and stock markets due to
the major political developments of 2016; most notably
Britain’s decision to withdraw from the European Union
and the results of the 2016 US Presidential Elections.
Global GDP is projected to have grown by 3.1% in 2016
helped by accommodative monetary policies in most of the
major developed economies. Oil prices rose in the first half
of 2016 on signs of diminishing stocks and were further
boosted by an agreement between OPEC and a number of
non-members to cut supply in December; as of end of 2016,
Brent Oil was USD 57 a barrel, rising more than 50% over
the year. China’s economy continued to grow, reliant on
policy stimulus measures with rapid expansion of credit. Its
credit-to-GDP ratio of 30.1% is seen as an early warning of
financial overheating. Meanwhile, the United States’ Federal
Reserve increased benchmark interest rates by 25 b.ps in
December 2016, the second hike in a year, on the back of a
recovery in the US economy evidenced by rising inflation
and reducing unemployment rates.
Despite global and domestic headwinds, the UAE economy
6 | Commercial Bank of Dubai

is projected to have grown by 2.3% in 2016 and is expected
to clock 2.5% growth in GDP in 2017. As part of the OPEC
agreement, the UAE has committed to cut 139 thousand
barrels of oil per day in the first half of 2017 from 3.013
million barrels per day in October 2016, a 4.6% cut in
production. Efforts to diversify the economy continued
with the non-oil sector’s contribution to the UAE GDP
standing at 70%. Under the vision of the country’s prudent
leadership, the UAE has grown fast into the second biggest
economy in the Arab world and a prominent regional as well
as international trade and investment hub.
The economy of the emirate of Dubai grew by 2.7% in
2016, down from 4% in 2015 as tourism and local real
estate sectors were affected by the rising US Dollar, to
which the UAE Dirham is pegged, making the UAE a
more expensive destination for the travelers and investors
of Russia, the United Kingdom and South Asia. However
Dubai’s GDP is expected to accelerate to 3.1% in 2017 as
the emirate invests in real estate and transport projects in
preparation for the World Expo in 2020. In December 2016,
the emirate announced a state budget that envisages total
spending rising to AED 47.3 billion ($12.9 billion) in 2017
from AED 46.1 billion planned for 2016, including a 27%

In line with its vision to become a leading financial
institution in the country, the Bank has embarked
upon transformational initiatives

increase in infrastructure spending. The Dubai Plan 2021
is a unique growth model that discards the idea of relying
on the accumulation of factors of production in favour of
sustainable and innovation-driven productivity as well as ease
of doing business. The strategy will lead to a diversified base
of value-added economic activity and enable the emirate’s
economy to withstand any potential internal or external
shock. Productivity and innovation are the main drivers
for Dubai in its efforts to achieve the vision of H.H. Sheikh
Mohammed Bin Rashid Al Maktoum, UAE Vice President
and Prime Minister and Ruler of Dubai, to make Dubai the
preferred place to live and work, a smart and sustainable
city, a pivotal hub of the global economy, and a role model
for governance by 2021.
The UAE’s banking sector was faced with several external
and internal challenges in 2016. Overall credit appetite
remained subdued through most of the year, and while
liquidity improved in the last quarter of the year, most banks
faced pressures in raising deposits, which adversely impacted
funding costs. As of December 2016, total lending in the
system grew by 6% over December 2015, while deposits
increased by 6.2%. The Central Bank’s policies supported
the banking sector growth while its regulatory framework
underpinned by international standards and practices ensured
that banks in UAE maintained adequate levels of capital.

increasing market share in selected client segments and
further diversifying its revenues. Guided by its ambitious
transformation plan, the bank adopted more cutting edge
technologies, enhanced its risk infrastructure and digitized
process to deliver extraordinary client experiences.
Looking forward, I believe the UAE’s economic progress
will provide sufficient opportunities for the Bank to grow in
line with its vision to become a leading financial institution
in the country.
Lastly, I wish to thank all the shareholders and clients for their
faith in the Bank and the directors, executive management
and the Bank’s employees for their contribution during the
year.
Best Regards,

		

		
			

Saeed Ahmed Ghobash
Chairman

Amidst the volatile operating environment, Commercial
Bank of Dubai returned a robust performance in 2016
while achieving its long term strategic objectives of
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Board of Directors
Mr. Saeed Ahmed Ghobash
Chairman

Mr. Ghobash was appointed as Chairman of the Board of Commercial Bank of Dubai in 2012. Prior to
becoming Chairman Mr. Ghobash has been a Director of the Board since 1982 and was later appointed
as Deputy Chairman in 1987. Furthermore, Mr. Ghobash is currently the Chairman of Ghobash Trading
& Investment Company L.L.C., as well as the Vice Chairman of Abu Dhabi National Industries Projects
(ADNIP).

Mr. Khalid Abdul Wahed Al Rostamani

Deputy Chairman and Chairman of the Credit and Investment Committee
Mr. Al Rostamani was appointed as Deputy Chairman to the Board of Commercial Bank of Dubai in 2012.
Prior to becoming Deputy Chairman he has been a Director of the Board since 2008. Mr. Al Rostamani
is the Vice Chairman of the A.W. Rostamani Group of Companies and a founder and Chairman of BCD
Travel, Transport and Freight Forwarding. He is also a Board Director of Dubai Insurance Company
and Etisalat. Mr. Al Rostamani holds a Bachelors degree in Finance from the George Washington
University, USA.

Mr. Omar Abdulla Al Futtaim
Director

Mr. Al Futtaim joined the Board of Commercial Bank of Dubai in March, 2002. He is the Chairman of
Emirates Investment Bank, Vice Chairman and CEO of the Al Futtaim Group. Mr. Al Futtaim is also
a Board Member of Arab Orient Insurance Company, the Dubai Chamber of Commerce & Industry, a
member of the Dubai Council for Economic Affairs and a member of the Board of Trustees of Emirates
National Development Program. Mr. Al Futtaim holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics and
Business Studies from the Macalester College, Minnesota, USA.

Mr. Ali Fardan Al Fardan
Director

Mr. Al Fardan joined the Board of Commercial Bank of Dubai in 2011. He is the owner of Al Fardan
Brands, Al Fardan International, Al Fardan Tourism and Managing Director of Al Fardan Real Estate.
Mr. Al Fardan holds directorships in Dubai Investment Company and Union Properties. He is also the
CEO and Partner of First Investor LLC and Vice Chairman of Al Fardan Holding. Mr. Al Fardan holds
a Bachelor of Science (Major in Information System) from the Metropolitan State College, USA.

Mr. Mohamed Ali Rashed Alabbar
Director

Mr. Alabbar joined CBD’s Board of Directors in 2015. He is the Founder and Chairman of Emaar Properties,
Africa Middle East Resources (AMER) and Tradewinds Corporation. Mr. Alabbar was the founding Director
General of the Dubai Department of Economic Development (DED) and served as a member of the Dubai
Executive Council and Dubai Economic Council. He was also previously Chairman of Dubai Cable Company,
Vice Chairman of Dubai Aluminum Company (DUBAL) and Dubai World Trade Centre. Mr. Alabbar graduated
in Finance and Business Administration from the Seattle University, USA where also holds an honorary doctorate
and serves on the Board of Trustees.

H.H. Sheikh Maktoum Hasher Al Maktoum
Director

Sheikh Al Maktoum joined the Board of Commercial Bank of Dubai in March, 2015. He is the Chairman
of Dubai International Holding Company, Executive Chairman of Shua’a Capital, President of Al Fajer
Properties LLC and Founder of A1 Grand Prix racing championship in 2001. He is recognized for his
leadership qualities and was titled as “CEO of the Year” and “Young Global Leader” by the World Economic
Forum. H.H. Sheikh Al Maktoum earned his Bachelor of Science Degree in Business Administration
and Finance from Boston, USA.
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Mr. Shehab Gargash

Director and Chairman of the Risk Committee
Mr. Shehab Gargash joined the board of Commercial Bank of Dubai in 2012. He is the founder and Managing
Director of Daman Investments. Prior to establishing Daman, Mr. Gargash enjoyed a successful 12-year banking
career in the UAE, initially with Citibank and later on with Emirates Bank International (now Emirates NBD). Mr.
Gargash is the Vice-Chairman of Burj Bank, Pakistan. He also serves as a Board Member of the Dubai Chamber of
Commerce and Industry, Coutts & Co. (Middle East Advisory Board) and as a Director on several regional Boards.
Mr. Gargash holds an MBA and a BBA both, from the George Washington University in Washington, DC, USA.

Mr. Hamed Ahmed Kazim

Director and Chairman of the Audit and Compliance Committee
Mr. Kazim joined the Board of Commercial Bank of Dubai in March, 2012. He is the owner of Hamed
Kazim Consultancy, his own advisory practice, advising major groups and international firms. Mr. Kazim
is also a member of the Board of Larsen & Toubro (India), Franklin Templeton Middle East and a Senior
Advisor to PricewaterHouseCoopers. Prior to this Mr. Kazim was the Managing partner of Andersen
Dubai and served on the Board of ESCA. Mr. Kazim holds a B.A. in Economics and minor in Electronic
Engineering from the University of California, San Diego, USA.

Mr. Abdulla Saif Al Hathboor
Director

Mr. Al Hathboor joined the Board of Commercial Bank of Dubai in 2008. He is the Chairman and
Managing Director of Al Hathboor Group LLC, a Board member of Bestfood Company and Al Jadeed/
Dubai Automatic Bakeries, Emirates Institute of Banking & Finance and Dubai Municipality Rent
Committee. Mr. Al Hathboor holds a Bachelors degree in Accounting & Business Administration from
the Al Ain University, UAE.

Mr. Humaid Mohammed Al Qutami

Director and Chairman of the Nomination andRemuneration Committee
Mr. Al Qutami joined CBD’s Board of Directors in March, 2015. He is the Director General of Dubai Health
Authority, Chairman of the Federal Authority for Government Human Resources, Chairman of the Board of
Trustees of Hamdan Bin Rashid Al Maktoum Award for Distinguished Academic Performance, Chairman of the
Board of Trustees of the Sharjah Voluntary Work award and Chairman of the Board of Directors for Emirates
Transport and Services Corporation. Prior to which he has held the position of UAE’s Minister of Education,
the UAE Minister of Health amongst many high other profile positions . Mr. Al Qutami holds a Masters Degree
in Administration from the Western Michigan University, USA.

Mr. Buti Saeed Al Ghandi
Director

Mr. Al Ghandi joined the Board of Commercial Bank of Dubai in 2015. Mr. Al Ghandi is the Managing
Director of Al Ghandi Investment Co. he is the Chancellor of the Canadian University of Dubai, and
Vice Chairman of Dubai World Trade Centre. He holds directorships on the Board of the Dubai Chamber
of Commerce and Zakat Fund. Mr. Al Ghandi holds a Bachelors Degree in Business Administration &
Finance from the George Washington University, USA.

SHAREHOLDERS
Investment Corporation of Dubai
Al Futtaim Private Co.
Orient Insurance P.J.S.C
Abdulla Hamad Al Futtaim
		

20%
10.51%
8.84%
6.95%

Ghobash Trading & Inv. Co LTD
Abdul Wahed Al Rostamani Group
Al Majid Investments
General Public
		

6.37%
5.75%
5%
36.58%
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Corporate Governance
Banks play a critical role in any economy. Through providing
finance to businesses, banks help develop the local economies
where they operate. Public trust and confidence in the banking
system is crucial for the smooth functioning of the financial
system. This can be ensured by implementing effective governance
practices.
Banks have a responsibility not only to their Shareholders but also
to their depositors and stakeholders. From a banking perspective
corporate governance is basically how the overall business of a
bank is governed by its Board and Senior Management.
The Board of Commercial Bank of Dubai is committed to
maintaining the highest standard of Corporate Governance practices
and devotes considerable effort to identify and formalize best
practices.

the four Board Committees focus on the specific areas of the
business as per their charters and the Management and Management
Committees devoted to ensuring the effective achievement of the
Bank’s goals and day-to- day management of the business.

Chairman and Board of Directors

Nomination &
Remuneration
Committee

Credit & Investment
Committee

Company
Secretary

Head of
Internal Audit

Senior Management &
Management Commitees

We at Commercial Bank of Dubai believe that sound and effective
corporate governance practices are fundamental to the smooth,
effective and transparent operation of the Bank and its ability to
attract investment, protect the rights of stakeholders and depositors
and enhance shareholder value.

Audit & Comliance
Committee

Risk Committee

Chief Compliance
Oﬃcer

Chief Risk Oﬃcer
CRO

Chief Executive Oﬃcer

EXCO

BC

ALCO

ITSC

CC

HRC

IC

CCO

ORMC

ISRC

Governance Statement
The Board provides strategic guidance, effective monitoring of
management, adequate controls and sets the tone and culture of
the Bank to enhance and ensure sustainable shareholder value.

Corporate Governance Framework
The Corporate Governance framework identifies the critical
governance components and illustrates how they relate to and
interact with each other to contribute to good governance.
Comprehensive guidelines, policies and procedures have been
formulated by the Board in support of the Bank’s corporate
governance framework including the Corporate Governance
Manual, Code of Conduct, Corporate Social Responsibility, the
Conflict of Interest and the Charters for various board committees.
These documents are reviewed regularly by the Board and the
relevant board committees and are updated in line with the
amendments of applicable legislations and rules as well as the
current market practices.
Set out below is the current Corporate Governance framework of
the Bank illustrating the levels of responsibility with the Board
of Directors being responsible for the stewardship of the Bank,
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The Chairman and Board Directors
The Board of Directors has a collective responsibility for the
Bank, including setting the strategic objectives based on the long
term financial interests of the Bank’s Shareholders, oversee the
implementation of the strategy and achievement of the strategic
objectives, define the risk appetite, internal controls, compliance,
governance and corporate values. The Board sets the tone on
professional standards that promotes integrity for itself, senior
management and employees of the Bank.
The Directors of the Board, as per the Articles of Association of
Commercial Bank of Dubai are elected by the General Meeting
by secret ballot every three years. As at 31st December 2016 the
Board comprised of 11 Independent Non - Executive Members.
The Board of Directors have a collective responsibility for the
stewardship of the Bank in setting strategic objectives and ensuring
that management maintains systems of risk management and
internal controls that provide assurance of effective and efficient
operations and compliance with all the applicable laws and

regulations.

Board Committees
The Board has established Committees to increase efficiency and
allow deeper focus in specific areas. All the Committees function
in accordance with their respective charters and provide periodic
updates to the Board on matters arising.

There are presently four Committees, namely:
•
•
•
•

Credit and Investment Committee
Audit and Compliance Committee
Risk Committee
Nomination and Remuneration Committee

Credit & Investment Committee
Mr. Khalid Al Rostamani			
Mr. Abdulla Al Hathboor 			
Mr. Ali Al Fardan 			
Mr. Shehab Gargash 			
Mr. Buti Al Ghandi 			

Chairman
Member
Member
Member
Member

Audit & Compliance Committee
Mr. Hamid Kazim 			
Sheikh Maktoum Hasher Al Maktoum
Mr. Ali Al Fardan 			
Mr. Buti Al Ghandi 			

Chairman
Member
Member
Member

Risk Committee
Mr. Shehab Gargash 			
Mr. Hamed Kazim 			
Sheikh Maktoum Hasher Al Maktoum
Mr. Buti Al Ghandi 			

Chairman
Member
Member
Member

Nomination & Remuneration Committee
Mr. Humaid Al Qutami 			
Mr. Abdulla Al Hathboor 			
Mr. Buti Al Ghandi 			

Chairman
Member
Member

to include approve applications and investments that are above
Management’s limits.
The Committee also develops investment policies and procedures
and monitors Management’s compliance with the Bank’s credit
guidelines.

Audit and Compliance Committee
The Audit and Compliance Committee’s key role is to ensure
that the Bank has a robust system of risk management, internal
controls and compliance with legal and regulatory obligations to
which the business is subject. The Committee regularly reviews
the audit and compliance policies, procedures and the selection,
appointment and independence of the External Auditors to ensure
there is appropriate transparency and disclosure to the Board
on operational risk to include reporting of any transaction that
maybe fraudulent .

Risk Committee
The Risk Committee in conjunction with the Board is responsible
for setting the overall risk appetite parameters and limits within
which the Bank may conduct its business. The Committee
monitors the risks inherent in the businesses of the Bank and the
control processes in regards to such risks, including market risk,
credit, liquidity, fiduciary, regulatory, reputational, strategic and
operational risks.

Nomination and Remuneration Committee
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee’s key focus is to
ensure that the Bank’s policies and procedures on remuneration,
recruitment, retention and performance is in line with the Bank’s
strategic goals and objectives and is competitive in order to attract
and retain the best talent.

Board and Committee Meetings During 2016
Type of Meeting

No. of Meetings

Board of Directors Meeting			

9

Credit & Investment Committee Meeting		

17

Credit and Investment Committee

Audit & Compliance Committee Meeting

6

The role of the Credit and Investment Committee is primarily to
review the Bank’s credit and investment portfolio and oversee
the effectiveness and administration of credit related policies

Risk Committee Meeting

		6

Nomination and Remuneration Committee

6
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Director’s Remuneration Policy

Communication and Disclosure Policy

Director’s remuneration is decided by the AGM, at the end of
each fiscal year, based on the ratification by the Board on the
recommendation of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee.
Director’s remuneration is in accordance with UAE laws and
regulations.

The Bank is committed to providing timely, consistent and accurate
information to its stakeholders, and to the public. Information
that is consistent with legal and regulatory requirements. In the
interest of transparency all members of the investment community,
including individual investors, have prompt and simultaneous
access to disclosed information.

Director’s Conflict of Interest
Director’s are required to declare the nature and extent of any
perceived conflict of interest in issues to be considered by the
Board. Should the Board resolve that the conflict is material,
such interested member may not be present to discuss or vote
over the resolution. It is responsibility of all Board Directors to
declare any current or potential conflict of interest to the Board
at the beginning of any meeting.
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On behalf of the Board, Chairman.

Mr. Saeed Ahmed Ghobash
(Chairman)
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Executive Committee

Sitting (From left to right):
Mr. Gareth Powell

Mr. Peter Baltussen

Mr. Fahad Al Mheri

Mr. Murray Sims

Mr. Asem Fikree

Mr. Alain Renaud

Mr. Walter Lironi

Mr. Thomas Pereira

Mr. Anand Sharma

Chief Human Resources Officer

Chief Executive Officer

General Manager Attijari Al Islami

Standing (From left to right):
General Manager
Personal Banking Group

Chief Transformation Officer

14 | Commercial Bank of Dubai

Head of Information
Technology and Operations

Chief Financial Officer

General Manager Corporate,
Commercial and Investment
Banking Group
Chief Risk Officer

Annual Report 2016 |

15

Board of Directors Report

Dear Shareholders,
On behalf of Commercial Bank of Dubai (CBD), we have the
pleasure of presenting our report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st December
2016.
The audited financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and
include Basel II Pillar III annual disclosures.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
In 2016 CBD managed to deliver another solid year which saw
strong top-line and revenue growth over 2015. The operating
environment in the UAE and Dubai remained competitive and
challenging through most of last year, further accentuating the
2016 performance which saw CBD’s operating profit rise by
6.6%. Net profit of AED 1,003.1 million for the year 2016, 5.9%
lower compared to AED 1,066.2 million for the last year mainly
due to prudent provisioning which resulted in loan loss coverage
ratio of 101.6%.

Operating Income increased by 4.7% to AED 2.46 billion,
mainly due to a 5.2% increase in net interest income to AED
1.73 billion (2015: AED 1.64 billion) and an 3.5% increase in
non-interest income to AED 736.9 million (2015: AED 712.2
million) with 15.2% increase in foreign exchange, 12.9% increase
in investment income and 5.5% in other income, while fees and
commission slightly declined by 0.6%.

Operating Expenses were 1.4% higher at AED 870.5 million
for the year, compared to AED 858.8 million for the last year. The
Bank continued to focus on its strategic initiatives to grow the
16 | Commercial Bank of Dubai

personal and business banking business segments and to invest
in enhancing its distribution network and upgrading its digital
banking framework. These costs were largely offset by efficiencies
achieved in other areas of the Bank. Cost to income ratio for the
year 2016 stood at 35.4%.

TRANSFORMATION is a
journey and not always smooth
together we reach our
DESTINATION.
ONE BANK NOW
Impairment Allowances in line with the Bank’s prudent provisioning
policy, net impairment provisions of AED 588.4 million were set
aside during the year compared to AED 427.2 million for the
previous year. This includes AED 93 million for general provisions,
as a result of the growth of the balance sheet. General provision
represents 1.5% of the Bank’s credit risk weighted assets (CRWA)
as at the end of 2016.
Overall Asset Quality remained sound, in spite of the deterioration
in the broader market conditions. As at 31st December 2016, the
non-performing loans ratio was stable at 6.9% (31st December
2015: 6.9%) with overall loan loss coverage ratio increased to
101.6% (31st December 2015: 92.4%).

Balance Sheet:
Total assets were higher at AED 64.1 billion as at 31st December

2016, an increase of 10.7% over the previous year end. The increase
in assets is attributed primarily to increase in loans and advances,
investments securities and customers’ acceptances.

year 2016 (equivalent to 56% of net profit), subject to the agreement
of the shareholders at the Annual General Assembly Meeting.

CORPORATE, COMMERCIAL AND
Loans and Advances of AED 42.0 billion as at 31st December INVESTMENT BANKING
2016 registered an increase of 7.5% when compared to AED 39.0
billion as at 31st December 2015. Loan book growth was across
all business segments. Personal and business banking net loans
were at AED 7.2 billion; registering an increase of 7.8% when
compared to the AED 6.7 billion as at last year end. Corporate
and commercial banking net loans were at AED 35.1 billion, a
7.4% increase when compared to AED 32.6 billion last year end.

Despite challenging economic conditions globally in 2016, CCIB
had yet another solid year with loan book growing and impressive
7%, while deposites increased by 8%. Current and savings accounts
were up 14% year-on-year. Fee income from trade and, payments
& cash management for the division increased 13.5% year-on-year.

Customers’ Deposits of AED 43.8 billion as at 31st December
2016, increased by 8.2% compared to AED 40.5 billion as at last
year end. Current and savings accounts balances increased by
AED 1.9 billion to represent 43.9% of the total deposits, while
loan to deposit ratio stood at 95.9%.

Liquidity continued to be comfortable with advances to stable
resources ratio of 83.7% as at 31st December 2016 (31st December
2015: 84.6%), while the UAE Central Bank has set 100% as the
maximum limit. Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) calculated as
per Basel III guidelines was at 133.9%, compared to the minimum
stipulated ratio of 70%. (31st December 2015:135.9%). The Net
Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR) stood at 109% (31st December
2015: 109.8%).
CBD’s capital adequacy and Tier 1 capital ratios were at
15.8% and 14.6% respectively (after dividend payout) and were
significantly above the regulatory thresholds of 12% and 8%
mandated by the UAE Central Bank.

One Bank ensures
COLLABORATION and
CO-ORDINATED CROSS-SELL
for commercial SUCCESS.
ONE BANK NOW
Customer-centricity helped Corporate and Commercial banking
to achieve the Bank’s aspirations in e-services and information
technology. During the year, CBD launched digital payment
and cash management solutions such as iBusiness, iPrint and
iCollect for its corporate and commercial clients. CBD also
enabled online payments and conversion to a cashless environment
for leading government entities such as Dubai Chamber and
National Olympic Committee.

The Board of Directors has proposed a 20% cash dividend for the
Annual Report 2016 |
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Board of Directors Report

Our bespoke PCM solutions strengthened
the Bank’s balance sheet

Payments and Cash Management launched several payables

ONE BANK is key to
sustainable GROWTH
and financial STRENGTH.
ONE BANK NOW
The division continues to support areas of key economic activity,
specifically Trade, Education, Hospitality, Healthcare, Services,
and Manufacturing. It has seen strong
growth from both existing and new clients in these important
sectors. The Commercial banking division focused on further
enhancing its dominant market share with UAE national clients,
while rationalizing its portfolio of expat-owned companies.
CBD’s Financial Institutions division (FI) continued to expand
into new including Vietnam, Bangladesh, Sri Lanka and Pakistan
with various products including trade and commodity finance,
cash management, treasury, syndicated loans and wholesale
funding. The FI team concluded trade loans, trade funding under
SWIFT loans and took part in a number of risk participation
transactions with global partner banks.
In an overall challenging environment for trade, CBD’s Trade
sales team had a strong year with flat revenues but increased
profitability. Focus was on collaboration with strong correspondent
banking relations to benefit from trade financing pacts including
large value avalisation, supporting clients by providing advisory,
training, risk mitigation and special trade structures most suitable
to their business models.
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and receivables solutions in 2016, namely, iCollect (remote cheque
scanning), iPrint (remote cheque printing), and iConnect (Hostto- Host) which helped clients improve operational efficiency
and bring down costs. Our bespoke PCM solutions strengthened
the Bank’s balance sheet through increase in low cost deposits.
Through continued investment towards improving state-of the
art corporate online banking platform iBusiness, our clients have
a user-friendly and robust platform to support their day-to- day
business needs.
Corporate and commercial clients benefited from a range of
Treasury Solutions. In anticipation of a rising rate environment,
some clients hedged interest rate risks on credit facilities offered
by CBD as well as those offered to them by other banks. Our
offering covered hedging for both conventional and Shariah
compliant facilities. Clients with active dealings in foreign
currencies benefited from a range of derivative solutions to hedge
currency exposures and lock much better conversion rates on their
predictable flows.
During the year DCM & Syndication successfully completed
a number of financing mandates as a lead bank in the wholesale
banking segment. The division executed more than AED 2 billion
worth of transactions and won several high profile financing
mandates as sole Bookrunner.
Our Commodity Finance business was launched in early
2015, aiming to finance international and regional trade flows of
commodity traders. Despite a challenging environment, the team
successfully developed relationships and business with a number
of prime international commodity traders, participated in several
syndicated loans and captured a significant volume of short-term
trade finance transactions.

CBD successfully created a Corporate Advisory team to help
our client base benefit from existing growth opportunities. Our
services include M&A advisory, market intelligence, equity capital
markets, restructuring advisory and financial engineering.

PERSONAL BANKING
Customer convenience and centricity are at the heart of all personal
banking (PBG) initiatives. It is critical to achieving strategic goals,
supported by sustainable value creation and innovative products. In
2016, focus was to understand needs and preferences of customers
and then to develop products and services that meet such client
needs and preferences.
Individual loans and other assets grew by 8.2% during the year. Net
interest margin grew by 12.5% year-on-year while portfolio yields
and provisions were maintained at healthy levels. PBG introduced
several prudent lending policy revisions and introduction of
compelling customer-centric initiatives, such as personal loans
for non-salary transfer segment, mortgage loans for non-residents,
attractive buy-out and pre-approved programs with an increased
focus on customer retention.
CBD cards business continued to grow aggressively with a yearon-year rise of 26% in number of cards and 21% in outstanding
balances.
There were a number of new initiatives, such as such as weekly
debit spend promotion and monthly credit card ‘Gold’ raffle, cinema
ticket discount offers, valet parking and health club membership
access. CBD cards migrated to chip & pin and implemented 3D
secure for its credit cards. The division implemented instant
issuance for debit cards at its branches, offered easy payment
plans on credit card purchases, cashback redemption directly to

customer’s bank account and a direct debit service to facilitate
customers to make seamless payments for their credit card from
bank accounts.
A key component of existing and future PBG strategy is to grow
the low-cost and fairly-priced fixed deposits base to support the
Bank’s asset growth.

INNOVATION cannot depend on
technology alone COLLABORATION
is the key to driving change
ONE BANK NOW

CBD individual liabilities balances grew by 10.7% in 2016,
despite adverse macro-economic factors. Whilst the banking
sector noted a rise in interest expense throughout the year, cost
of funds for individual deposits at CBD was maintained at lower
levels, with a well-balanced mix of fairly-priced and high-cost
deposits. As part of this, a suite of new liability products were
launched including the digital ‘Step Up Deposit’, ‘e-Saver’
and ‘Bonus Booster’ alongside attractive promotions, enhanced
digital experiences and enhanced customer services at CBD
branches and other touch points.
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The CUSTOMER is the reason.
FOCUS is a must.
OUR TIME IS NOW

A major initiative was ‘CBD Now’ – the UAE’s first digital-only
Bank targeting Millennial and digitally connected customers, who
will help CBD design a personalized ‘Bank of the Future’. CBD
Now, which takes digital innovation to a new level, will reshape
customer relationships through a series of specialized products,
including current and savings accounts and credit cards.
The Bank won three awards in 2016 - Gulf Digital Experience
Awards for the Bank’s Active Saver mobile app, Gulf Digital
Experience Award for CBD.ae website and the People’s Choice
Awards by SouqAlMal.com for the Most Popular Personal
Loan in the UAE.
Mobile adoption was very positive with customers embracing
the Bank’s new mobile channel. Since its launch in April, logins
to accounts increased by 177% and transactions got a boost with
bill payments online and through the application.
Improving customer experience online allowed the Bank to engage
with customers better and provide a simple, fast and stress-free
banking experience. The Bank also took advantage of the latest
technologies by enabling faster login with fingerprint access for
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customers using smartphones. Through the online site, CBD
reduced the number of clicks it takes customers to reach their
destination and enabled them to keep an eye on expenses through
dashboards on the personal homepage.
In 2016, CBD announced a series of innovative and first-to-market
digital banking services aimed at making banking simpler, easier
and more personalized for the customer. The new initiatives are
enabled by ‘CBD nEXT’, a multiyear transformation program
that has the objective of building the new CBD around customer
needs by leveraging a deep understanding of client insights.
As part of its digital transformation strategy, CBD launched a
series of innovative and first-to-market digital banking initiatives
aimed at making banking simpler, efficient, and more personalized.
Some of these key initiatives included real-time customer account
sign up-both in-branch and online, a completely new customer
experience for people moving to the UAE “movingtouae.ae”,
as well as an advanced payments solutions to support corporate
clients and Smart Government.
CBD also launched a breakthrough Mobile App and invested
in best-in-class IVR Enhancements, ATM improvements, and
Digital Branches. It announced three new customer-convenient
branches in Dubai and Abu Dhabi at the Dubai Festival City, Al
Wahda Mall and City Walk II.
CBD has been at the forefront in the promotion of sustainable
finance. For the first time ever, the global roundtable United
Nations Environment Programme’s (UNEP) Finance Initiative
was hosted in UAE on 25th-26th October. CBD participated in
the initiative and signed the declaration to drive forward green
initiatives within the banking industry.

ISLAMIC BANKING

For CBD’s Islamic banking business managed under the Attijari Al
Islami brand, 2016 was a year of significant financial performance.
The Bank focused on rebranding the division, which led to a 42%
increase in Islamic financing assets, 11% increase in Islamic
deposits and a 43% increase in total revenue.

A sure shot for ensuring

EXTRAORDINARY
BANKING experiences is to make
our client the bull’s eye.
ONE BANK NOW
A range of innovative Islamic products were launched including
Islamic credit card, and dedicated Islamic mobile app and online
banking system.
In line with the Bank’s CSR commitment Islamic banking modified
IT systems to facilitate Zakat and donation payments through
various channels.
Also through a retainer agreement, Dar Al Shariah Financial
Consultancy Company provides day-to-day support and assistance
on Shariah-related matters and on the structure of the new Islamic
products.
Islamic banking is ready to continue to carry forward its mission

to take financial industry to the next level in line with the vision
of his Highness Sheikh Mohammed bin Rashid Al Maktoum to
make Dubai the gateway to the global Islamic economy.

TREASURY
Markets Overview: US and European money markets were
flat for most of the year, which kept lending rates low and liquidity
abundant, driving their respective equity and bond prices higher
in the first half of the year. The situation was opposite for GCC
markets that suffered the ravages of protracted low oil prices
and equity market losses (albeit a resilient bond market across
all grades of credit once the oil price began to materially recover
in H2 2016). The US Federal Reserve held off hiking rates until
December 2016 and then announced a meagre 25 bps as Brexit,
Trump and Italian votes against the establishment forced a more
cautious approach to US interest rates given the backdrop of
global uncertainty. Meanwhile, the European Central Bank, Bank
of England and Bank of Japan continued with various forms of
monetary stimulus as US, China, Japan and UK all surged to new
debt/GDP ratio highs, unable to curtail the incessant creation of
debt. Despite everything, financial market confidence improved
towards the end of the year and, undoubtedly, the effects of
quantitative easing are still lifting economies globally.

Asset & Liability Management: CBD benefited from a
strong and stable composition of term funding in 2016 and
was very effective in complying with financial ratios as well as
observation and soft adherence to Basel 3 principles in advance
of full mandatory regulatory compliance from 2019 onwards.
The Bank renewed its USD 450 million club loan to June 2019
with investors from US, Asia, Europe and the GCC participating.
CBD has also increased its investment in a high quality liquid
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asset bond portfolio with dedicated staff managing the daily risk.
This fixed income team has become significantly more active in
the bond repo market as part of day-to-day ALM operations and
has doubled the outstanding term repo exposure to approximately
USD 311 million with maturities up to July 2022.

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

There was a notable increase in competition for deposits regionally.
As oil-related receivables dwindled through the first half of the
year due to subdued oil prices and short-term credit constraints
crimped all sectors of the UAE economy, the cost of client deposits
began to rise and peaked in the final quarter as the second US
rate hike since the financial crisis was announced in December.
This is the third time in 3 years since the ‘taper tantrum’ forced
term AED and EIBOR rates higher in a relatively short space of
time and it remains to be seen whether these elevated levels of
EIBOR and 5 year AED swap rates will persist. In 2016, CBD
implemented new strategies to continue to build cost-effective
deposit mobilization programs and the Bank has maintained a
high component of current and savings accounts as a percentage
of its overall funding as the balance sheet continued to grow.

The three major pillars in the Bank related to technology were
Transformation of IT Department, its governance, its sourcing
strategy and its mechanism for alignment with business customers.

Treasury Sales and Asset Management
In 2016, Treasury Sales and Asset Management teams were merged
to create a stronger multi-product center of excellence for product
development and distribution. The team consists of an advisory
team in Dubai and a separate head of advisory based in Abu
Dhabi. The team has significantly increased product distribution
through the personal banking segment in 2016 with notable success
from both the Al Dana and Private Banking channels helping to
build not only traditional fee but ‘annuity style’ revenue streams
(supplementary to the traditional ones generated from annual asset
management fees). Flow products driving traditional FX revenue
streams held up well despite a challenging business environment
and global compliance requirements.
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Year 2016 was a turning point for CBD’s Information Technology
platform. During 2016 the implementation of the new IT strategy,
approved at the end of 2015, was launched.

Go BEYOND your office
and CONNECT
ONE BANK NOW

The ability to design, drive and execute major transformation
projects helped the Bank meet its business objectives that revolve
around customer centricity, digital banking, process and cost
optimization.
Key projects in 2016 included the new digital offering for mobile,
an online customer onboarding that allowed clients to open account
instantly, both in the branch and through the internet, an online
credit card application offering, the CBD NOW Digital Bank, a
new enterprise data warehouse, and the customer relationship
management system.
The unit has transformed itself from purely an executor to being
a value-added partner for the business. The Business Intelligence
Competency Center (BICC) is driving data analytics for both

the physical and the online world. Also it helped the business
systematically design and test the projects delivered.

Dubai, Abu Dhabi and Sharjah. It also participated in Government
Accelerators Program in conjunction with Emirates Institute of
Banking and Financial Studies (EIBFS).

The role of IT extended beyond system delivery into areas like
contract management, finance optimization, cost containment,
requirements gathering, testing strategy and testing execution.
IT continued to support and maintain the Bank’s operations,
offering the highest level of availability and further enhancing
the infrastructure through ‘Run the Bank’ initiatives.
Throughout the year, numerous initiatives were delivered including
small (enhancements), medium (change requests) and large
(projects) tickets. This challenging and aggressive portfolio was
delivered through an effective management of a total capacity of
over 11,000 man-days internal effort and effort provided from
our strategic vendors.
The IT Strategy is a three-year program that started in 2016. In the
following years, 2017 and 2018, the focus will remain not only on
delivery and business support but will also introduce innovation
as part of the IT agenda and will strengthen CBD core skills in
areas critical for CBD transformation.

HUMAN RESOURCES & TRAINING
CBD continued to invest in its workforce in 2016. This included
hiring of more than 450 new employees, many of whom bring
specialist skills in personal and digital banking, Islamic banking,
risk management and transformation.
Emiratization levels remained steady and the Bank began
preparing for the new UAE Central Bank guidelines, which will
be implemented in 2017. CBD was represented at careers fairs in

There’s no TIME like
the PRESENT
ONE BANK NOW
The 2016 learning curriculum was focused on sales and service
training, certifications in wealth management and investments,
compliance and fraud prevention, performance management
and change management. In addition, we launched a Women’s
Development Program focused on personal growth and career
management for two cohorts of female employees at senior and
junior levels of the Bank in conjunction with external consultants.
The annual Employee Engagement Survey once again provided
valuable insights into the Bank’s working environment and we
were pleased to maintain our engagement levels in 2016 in a
challenging market. CBD continues to be positioned above the
benchmark for GCC commercial banks by an independent survey
provider. The Bank aspires to exceed the benchmark for global
commercial banks over the next four years.
At CBD, we closely measure, monitor, train and provide feedback
to our staff motivating them to perform par excellence.
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STRATEGY

2.

During 2016, the Bank continued efforts to achieve its strategic
aspirations -- to grow substantially faster than the market
by acquiring new customers; to become our clients’ primary
relationship; to be the Best in customer service, and to achieve
the highest employee engagement.

3.

Never lose sight of the 3C’s
CROSS-SELL
COLLABORATION
& CLIENT FOCUS.
ONE BANK NOW

The Bank built upon CBD nEXT, its Transformation program,
to build a Bank of the future that delivers extraordinary client
experiences, ensures profitable and sustainable growth and
increases employee engagement.
To execute the program, a Central Transformation Office was set
up staffed with a Transformation Team that works across the Bank
on multiple complex cross-functional initiatives.
This team has focused on five priorities:
1.

Creating a Digital Attacker Brand called CBD NOW.
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4.
5.

Digitizing end-to-end processes of the Bank to deliver
extraordinary client experiences.
Enhancing the risk infrastructure to provide
sophisticated and forward-looking risk intelligence.
Building new analytics and IT capabilities to support
the growth.
Hiring and upgrading existing organizational capabili-		
ties through a highly motivated workforce.

Year 2016 was the first in the Bank’s three-year Transformation
journey. It enabled CBD to build capabilities to launch CBD
NOW, the first digital-only Bank in the region; deliver the account
and debit card within 30 minutes; allow online account opening
and customer fulfillment at site of the customer; upgrading of
all credit and risk processes with shorter turnaround times, and
launch of tailored campaigns for customers with offers that best
suit their needs.
In 2017, CBD will deliver the CBD NOW promise, continuously
upgrade our branch network, and upgrade skills across all our
client sales, service and support teams.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
CBD is committed to contribute to the society. For the Bank, it has
always been about more than just business. It recognizes its role
and responsibility in building healthy and vibrant communities. Its
CSR practices resonate with society’s values, principles and needs.
In 2016, the Bank continued to strive to be a responsible corporate
citizen with the firm belief that businesses have a responsibility
to operate ethically and with integrity.

Over the years, the Bank has supported many different charity
organizations in the UAE in the areas of health, education, arts
and culture and community well-being through donations and
sponsorships. CBD continues this legacy in a more focused way
by emphasizing youth, education, health and entrepreneurship.

CBD believes that a healthy workforce is a happier and more
productive workforce, and it aims to support staff to make positive
changes to their lifestyle so that they improve their well-being.

In 2016, a major initiative was to promote a healthy lifestyle
by sponsoring The Dubai Tour, a cycling event that embodies
the vision of the government to develop and promote sports in
the UAE, led by His Highness Sheikh Mohammad Bin Rashid
Al Maktoum. The event attracts participation from the world’s
leading cyclists.

The CBD Board of Directors would like to thank Mr. Peter
Baltussen, who retired from his position as Chief Executive Officer
of Commercial Bank of Dubai.

CBD NOW, the nation’s first digital Bank, signed up to officially
sponsor the fourth edition of the Dubai Tour. CBD is proud to serve
the community and one of its mission is to foster health for the
people and the communities. The Bank was also the main sponsor
of Mini Dubai Tour, a cycling race for children and amateurs,
which took place in January.

THANK YOU

Mr. Baltussen served as the Bank’s CEO since 2006. The entire
Board expresses its appreciation to Mr. Baltussen for his many
years of service and significant contributions to CBD.
The Board of Directors also welcomes the new CEO, Mr. Bernd
van Linder. He will ensure that the Bank continues to focus on
growing and modernizing with drive and energy.

Islamic Banking modified IT systems to facilitate Zakat and
donation payments through various channels.
The Bank’s investment in our communities is complemented by
the generosity of our employees. Through generations, they have
supported local organizations through volunteering and donations,
and this spirit remains as strong as ever today.
To recognize, acknowledge and reward the commitment of its
staff, CBD organized a Health and Wellness Week to promote
health in the workplace and help improve employees’ personal
well-being through healthy activity, healthy eating and healthy
habits. The event ran from May 9-17.
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Net Loans and Advances
and Islamic Financing (AED Millions)
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Report of the Auditors to the Shareholders (continued)
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Report of the Auditors to the Shareholders (continued)
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Report of the Auditors to the Shareholders (continued)
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Report of the Auditors to the Shareholders (continued)
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Consolidated statement of financial position As at 31 December 2016
2016

2015

Note

AED’000

AED’000

5

6,712,466

6,668,065

6

3,724,254

2,591,717

7

41,962,538

39,020,821

8

7,418,277

6,623,029

ASSETS

Cash and balances with Central Bank
Due from banks
Loans and advances and Islamic financing, net
Investment securities
Investment in an associate
Investment properties
Property and equipment
Bankers acceptances
Other assets

9

77,768

82,029

10

375,191

333,761

11

355,211

332,317

3,056,956

1,871,598

397,115

340,551

64,079,776

57,863,888

13

1,560,148

1,111,462

14

43,773,824

40,474,776

15

6,080,537

5,492,694

3,056,956

1,871,598

928,688

684,554

55,400,153

49,635,084

17

2,802,734

2,802,734

17

1,401,367

1,401,367

17

38,638

38,638

17

1,328,025

1,227,718

17

18,014

(6,294)

17

560,547

560,547

17

11,000

11,000

2,519,298

2,193,094

8,679,623

8,228,804

64,079,776

57,863,888

12

TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
LIABILITIES

Due to banks
Customers’ deposits and Islamic customers’ deposits
Notes and medium term borrowings
Due for trade acceptances
Other liabilities

16

TOTAL LIABILITIES
EQUITY

Share capital
Legal reserve
Capital reserve
General reserve
Cumulative changes in fair values of available for sale
investments and cash flow hedge instruments
Proposed cash dividend
Proposed directors’ remuneration
Retained earnings
TOTAL EQUITY
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

These consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 5 February 2017.
The attached notes on pages 39 to 101 form part of these consolidated financial statements.				
				
				
				
														
Mr. Saeed Ahmed Ghobash				
Dr. Bernd van Linder
		Chairman		
				
Chief Executive Officer 			
The report of the Auditors is set out on pages 28 to 33.				
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Consolidated income statement For the year ended 31 December 2016

Interest income and income from Islamic financing
Interest expense and distributions to Islamic depositors

2016

2015

Note

AED’000

AED’000

18

2,287,803

1,963,031

19

(562,650)

(323,000)

1,725,153

1,640,031

495,262

498,250

134,347

116,576

924

1,247

57,470

49,266

9

3,408

4,741

22

7,449

6,067

38,025

36,059

2,462,038

2,352,237

(683,311)

(501,396)

115,214

86,800

8

(8,226)

(12,628)

10

(12,120)

Net interest income and net income from Islamic
financing

Net fees and commission income
Net gains from foreign exchange and derivatives
Net gains from investments at fair value through profit
or loss - held for trading
Net gains from sale of available-for-sale investments
Share of profit of an associate
Dividend income
Other income

20

21

Total operating income

Impairment allowances on loans and advances and
Islamic financing
Recoveries
Impairment allowance on investments securities
Impairment allowance against investment properties

7

Total net income

-

1,873,595

1,925,013

23

(817,393)

(808,145)

10,11

(53,137)

(50,639)

Total operating expenses

(870,530)

(858,784)

Net profit for the year

1,003,065

1,066,229

AED 0.36

AED 0.38

Staff and other expenses
Depreciation and amortisation

Basic and diluted earnings per share

25

The attached notes on pages 39 to 101 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
Appropriations have been reflected in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.		
The report of the Auditors is set out on pages 28 to 33.
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income For the year ended 31 December 2016

Net profit for the year

2016

2015

AED’000

AED’000

1,003,065

1,066,229

14,445

1,297

(57,470)

(49,266)

67,333

(28,133)

9,863

(77,399)

24,308

(76,102)

1,027,373

990,127

Other comprehensive income:

Changes in fair value of effective portion of cash flow hedge
Changes in available-for-sale (AFS) investments:

Realised gains on sale of AFS investments
Revaluation of AFS investments (net of impairment)
Net change in AFS investments
Other comprehensive income / (loss) for the year
Total comprehensive income for the year

Balances of all items inluded in other comprehesive income (as above) could be recycled to consolidated income statement in
subsequent periods.
The attached notes on pages 39 to 101 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
The report of the Auditors is set out on pages 28 to 33.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity For the year ended 31 December 2016

Cumulative
changes in
fair values
of AFS
investments
and cash
General
flow hedge
reserve instruments

Share
capital

Legal
reserve

Capital
reserve

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

2,242,187

1,380,495

38,638

1,121,095

69,808

1,826,556

1,131,634

7,810,413

Cash dividend paid for 2014 (25%)

-

-

-

-

-

-

(560,547)

(560,547)

Proposed cash dividend for 2015 (20%)

-

-

-

-

-

(560,547)

560,547

-

Bonus shares issued for 2014 (25%)

560,547

-

-

-

-

-

(560,547)

-

Share of Directors’ remuneration of
associate (note 9)

-

-

-

-

-

(649)

-

(649)

Net profit for the year

-

-

-

-

-

1,066,229

-

1,066,229

Other comprehensive loss for the year

-

-

-

-

(76,102)

-

-

(76,102)

Total comprehensive income

-

-

-

-

(76,102)

1,066,229

-

990,127

Directors’ remuneration paid for 2014

-

-

-

-

-

-

(10,540)

(10,540)

Proposed directors remuneration for 2015

-

-

-

-

-

(11,000)

11,000

-

Transfer to legal reserve

-

20,872

-

-

-

(20,872)

-

-

Transfer to General reserve

-

-

-

106,623

-

(106,623)

-

-

2,802,734

1,401,367

38,638

1,227,718

(6,294)

2,193,094

571,547

8,228,804

-

-

-

-

-

-

(560,547)

(560,547)

Proposed cash dividend for 2016 (20%)

-

-

-

-

-

(560,547)

560,547

-

Others (note 9)

-

-

-

-

-

(4,807)

-

(4,807)

Share of Directors remuneration of
associate (note 9)

-

-

-

-

-

(200)

-

(200)

Net profit for the year

-

-

-

-

-

1,003,065

-

1,003,065

Other comprehensive income for the year

-

-

-

-

24,308

-

-

24,308

Total comprehensive income

-

-

-

-

24,308

1,003,065

-

1,027,373

Directors’ remuneration paid for 2015

-

-

-

-

-

-

(11,000)

(11,000)

Proposed directors remuneration for 2016

-

-

-

-

-

(11,000)

11,000

-

Transfer to General reserve

-

-

-

100,307

-

(100,307)

-

-

2,802,734

1,401,367

38,638

1,328,025

18,014

2,519,298

571,547

8,679,623

At 1 January 2015

Retained
Proposed
earnings distributions

Total

Transactions with shareholders, recorded
directly in equity

Comprehensive income

At 31 December 2015
Transactions with shareholders, recorded
directly in equity
Cash dividend paid for 2015 (20%)

Comprehensive income

At 31 December 2016

The attached notes on pages 39 to 101 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
The report of the Auditors is set out on pages 28 to 33.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows For the year ended 31 December 2016
Note

2016

2015

AED’000

AED’000

1,003,065

1,066,229

53,137

50,639

444

3

(7,449)

(6,067)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net profit for the year
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation
Loss on disposal of property and equipment
Dividend income
(Increase) /decrease in investment in an associate
Amortisation of premium / discounts on investments
Net unrealised (gains) /losses on investments at fair value
through profit or loss - held for trading
Forex translation loss
Realised gains on sale of investments

(546)

2,561

67,002

53,851

-

1,293

13,931

4,949

(57,648)

(50,411)

(1,183)

(3,491)

Impairment of AFS Investment

8

8,226

12,628

Impairment allowance against investment properties

10

12,120

-

10,187

8,038

1,101,286

1,140,222

(238,877)

(234,841)

300,000

(300,000)

(177,773)

(40,786)

(2,941,717)

(7,199,319)

(25,487)

(16,250)

Net unrealised income on derivatives

Amortisation of transaction cost on notes and medium term borrowings
Increase in statutory reserve with the Central Bank
Decrease / (increase) in negotiable Central Bank certificate of
deposits with original maturity of more than three months
Increase in due from banks with original maturity of more than
three months
Increase in loans and advances and Islamic financing, net
Increase in other assets

3,299,048

8,313,437

Increase / (decrease) in other liabilities

228,685

(24,608)

(Decrease) / increase in due to banks with original maturity of
more than three months

(15,285)

152,015

Directors’ remuneration paid

(11,000)

(10,540)

Increase in customers’ deposits and Islamic customers’ deposits

Share of Directors’ remuneration of associate
Net cash flow from operating activities

(200)

(649)

1,518,680

1,778,681

(5,549,714)

(3,326,709)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of investments
Purchase of property and equipment

11

(67,112)

(50,287)

Increase in investment properties

10

(63,467)

(2,430)

Dividend income
Proceeds from sale of investments
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment
Net cash flow used in investing activities

7,449

6,067

4,732,818

2,191,968

554

761

(939,472)

(1,180,630)

577,656

1,462,658

(560,547)

(560,547)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Notes and medium term borrowings
Dividend paid
Net cash flow from financing activities

17,109

902,111

596,317

1,500,162

4,962,375

3,462,213

5,558,692

4,962,375

Interest income and income from Islamic financing received

2,248,981

1,956,541

Interest expense and distributions to Islamic depositors paid

517,159

259,402

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

26

Supplemental disclosure:

The attached notes on pages 39 to 101 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
The report of the Auditors is set out on pages 28 to 33.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements For the year ended 31 December 2016

1. LEGAL STATUS AND ACTIVITIES						
Commercial Bank of Dubai PSC (“the Bank”) was incorporated in Dubai, United Arab Emirates (U.A.E.) in 1969 and is registered
as a Public Shareholding Company (PSC) in accordance with Federal Law No. 8 of 1984 (as amended). The Federal Law No. 2 of
2015, concerning Commercial Companies has come into effect from 1 July 2015, replacing the existing Federal Law No. 8 of 1984.
In order to comply with the new Commercial Companies Law, the Bank held its General Assembly meeting on 26 June 2016 to
amend its articles of association. The amendment will be applied after obtaining necessary regulatory approvals. The Bank expects
to be compliant on or before the end of grace period on 30 June 2017. The Bank is listed on the Dubai Financial Market. The Bank’s
principal activity is commercial banking.
The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016 comprise the results of the Bank, its wholly
owned subsidiaries (together referred to as “the Group”) and the Group’s interest in an associate.		
			

							
Details about subsidiaries and an associate:						

a) CBD Financial Services LLC, is registered as a limited liability company in accordance with Federal Law No. 8 of 1984 (as
amended) in Dubai, United Arab Emirates. The Federal Law No. 2 of 2015, concerning Commercial Companies has come into effect
from 1 July 2015, replacing the existing Federal Law No. 8 of 1984. The Bank holds a 100% interest. Its principal activity is broking
for local shares and bonds. 						
b) Attijari Properties LLC, is registered as a limited liability company in accordance with Federal Law No. 8 of 1984 (as amended)
in Dubai, United Arab Emirates. The Federal Law No. 2 of 2015, concerning Commercial Companies has come into effect from 1
July 2015, replacing the existing Federal Law No. 8 of 1984. The Bank holds a 100% interest. Its principal activity is self-owned
property management services and buying & selling of real estate.						
c) CBD (Cayman) Limited is a special purpose entity (SPE) registered in British Virgin Island. The SPE has been established for
any future issuance of debts securities.						
d) During 2016, the Bank has incorporated a wholly owned subsidiary, CBD (Cayman II) Limited, which is a special purpose entity
(SPE) registered in British Virgin Island. The SPE has been established to transact and negotiate derivatives agreements.		
				
e) National General Insurance Co. (PSC) is an associate of the Bank and is listed on the Dubai Financial Market. It underwrites all
classes of life and general insurance business as well as certain reinsurance business. The Bank holds 17.8% interest in the associate.
The management believes that it has significant influence on the associate by virtue of having representation on the board of directors
of the associate.						
							
The registered address of the Bank is Al Ittihad Street, P.O. Box 2668, Dubai, United Arab Emirates.				
		

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

						
a) Statement of compliance				
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and comply with relevant laws of the U.A.E.
Along with these consolidated financial statements, the Group has presented Basel II Pillar 3 disclosures in accordance with the
guidelines issued by the Central Bank of the UAE. The application of Basel II Pillar 3 guidelines has impacted the type and amount
of disclosures made in these consolidated financial statements, but has no impact on the reported profits or financial position of the
Group. In accordance with the requirements of Basel II, the Group has provided full comparative information.			
			
As required by the UAE Securities and Commodities Authority (SCA) notification number 85/2009 dated January 6, 2009, the
Group’s exposure in cash and advances with Central Bank of the UAE, Due from Banks and Investment Securities outside the UAE
have been presented under the respective notes.
b) Basis of measurement					
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following: 			
			
• Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value;		
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)						
								
b) Basis of measurement (continued)
•
•
•

Financial instruments classified as fair value through profit or loss, held for trading and available for sale are measured at fair
value;						
Recognised assets and liabilities that are hedged item in a fair value hedge transaction are measured at fair value in respect of
the risk that is hedged; and					
Granted land is valued at market value on the date of grant.						

c) Functional and presentation currency			
The consolidated financial statements are presented in United Arab Emirates Dirhams (“AED”), which is the Bank’s functional
currency, rounded to the nearest thousand unless otherwise stated.						
							
d) Use of estimates and judgments 						
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise judgment in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher
degree of judgment or complexity are disclosed in Note 3 (z).						
							
e) Basis of consolidation						
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Bank and its subsidiaries, which it controls, as at 31
December 2016. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.						
							
Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has:
						
• Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee);
• Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and				
• The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.						
							
When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:						
•
•
•

The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;						
Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and						
The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.
								
		
					
The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and
ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated financial statements of the Group from the date the Group gains control until the
date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.						
								
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) is attributed to the equity holders of the parent of the Group
and non-controlling interest. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.					
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. If the Group
loses control over a subsidiary, it:
						
• Derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary					
• Derecognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity						
• Derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest						
• Recognises the fair value of the consideration received						
• Recognises the fair value of any investment retained						
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)						
								
e) Basis of consolidation (continued)
•
•

Recognises any surplus or deficit in consolidated income statement.
Reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognised in OCI to profit or loss or retained earnings, 		
as appropriate, as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.			
			
(i) Subsidiary						
A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Bank. The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The
Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases.						
								
(ii) Associate						
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial
and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over those policies.
The Group’s investment in its associate is accounted for using the equity method.
Under the equity method, the investment in an associate is initially recognised at cost. The carrying amount of the investment is
adjusted to recognise changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate since the acquisition date. Goodwill relating to the
associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is neither amortised nor individually tested for impairment.		
			
The consolidated statement of income reflects the Group’s share of the results of operations of the associate. Any change in OCI of
those investees is presented as part of the Group’s OCI. In addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in the equity
of the associate, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the statement of changes in equity. The aggregate
of the Group’s share of profit or loss of an associate is shown on the face of the consolidated income statement. 			
						
The financial statements of the associate are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group. When necessary, adjustments are
made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.						
After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an impairment loss on its investment
in its associate. At each reporting date, the Group determines whether there is objective evidence that the investment in the associate is
impaired. If there is such evidence, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount
of the associate and its carrying value, then recognises the loss as ‘Share of profit or loss of an associate’.
Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair value.
Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence and the fair value of the retained
investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in the consolidated income statement.					
(iii) Transactions eliminated on consolidation						
Intra-group balances and income and expenses (except for foreign currency transactions gains or losses) arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as
unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.						
								
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 						
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all the years presented in these consolidated financial
statements. 						
								
a) Financial instruments						
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to both a financial asset for the Group and a financial liability or equity instrument
for another party or vice versa. The Group classifies its financial assets at initial recognition in the following categories: 		

			
(i)Classification						

v Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL): This category has the following two sub-categories: 			
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)						
a) Financial instruments (continued)
(i)Classification (continued)
Financial assets held for trading						
Financial assets held for trading are those that are acquired principally for the purpose of sale in the near term. They are recorded at
fair value. Fair value changes are recognised in consolidated income statement.						
								
Designated to be fair valued through profit or loss at inception 					
The Group designates financial assets at fair value through profit or loss in the following circumstances:			
• The assets are managed, evaluated and reported internally on a fair value basis.
• The designation eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch which would otherwise arise.		
• The asset contains an embedded derivative that significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required under the
contract.						
v Loans and advances: Loans and advances are non-derivative financial assets with fixed and determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. These arise when the Group provides money directly to the borrower with no intention of trading the
receivable.						
								
v Held-to-maturity (HTM): Investments classified as held-to-maturity are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments and fixed maturities that the Group’s management has the intention of and the ability to hold to maturity. HTM assets are
carried at amortized cost less impairment loss if any. 						
Sale of HTM assets is allowed only under the following circumstances:						
• The investment is close enough to maturity as to have no impact on fair value;						
• The principal is substantially received;						
• Isolated events beyond the Group’s control;						
• Significant credit deterioration;						
• Major business combination or disposal; or						
• Increase in regulatory capital requirements.						
								
v Available-for-sale (AFS): Available-for-sale investments are those non-derivative financial assets that are designated as availablefor-sale or not classified as (i) financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, (ii) loans and advances or (iii) held-to-maturity
investments. AFS assets are carried at fair value, with fair value changes recognised in other comprehensive income (OCI). These
assets may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates, exchange rates or equity prices.			
			
(ii) Initial recognition						
Purchases and sales of investment securities are recognised on the trade date which is the date on which the Group commits to
purchase or sell the securities. Loans and advances are recognised when cash is advanced to the borrowers. Financial assets are
initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs, which approximates to its cost, for all financial assets not carried at fair value
through profit or loss. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value, which approximates
to its cost.						
								
(iii) Derecognition						
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or where the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. A financial liability is derecognised when its contractual obligation
is discharged, cancelled or expired.						
								
(iv) Subsequent measurement						
Financial assets available-for-sale and at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently carried at fair value. Financial assets not
carried at fair value are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less impairment allowances. 			
			
(v) Embedded derivatives						
Certain derivatives embedded in other financial instruments are treated as separate derivatives when their economic characteristics
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)						
a) Financial instruments (continued)
(v) Embedded derivatives (continued)
and risks are not closely related to those of the host contract and the host contract is not carried at fair value through profit or loss.
These embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated income statement.
								
(vi) Gains and losses on subsequent measurement						
Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of the investments at fair value through profit or loss category are included
in the consolidated income statement in the period in which they arise. 						
								
Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of available-for-sale investments are recognised directly in other comprehensive
income (OCI), until the financial asset is derecognised or impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised
in OCI is recognised in the consolidated income statement. 						
								
In cases where available-for-sale investments with a fixed maturity are reclassified as held-to-maturity investments, the fair value
gains or losses until the date of the reclassification are held in OCI and amortised over the remaining life of the held-to-maturity
investments using the effective interest rate method.						
								
(vii) Fair value measurement principles						
The Group measures financial instruments, such as derivatives and investments in equity and certain fixed income instruments, at
fair value at each reporting date.						
								
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset
or transfer the liability takes place either:
v In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
v In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.					
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.						
								
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset
or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest. 						
								
A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by
using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best
use.						
								
The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.				
		
(viii) Fair value hierarchy						
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorized within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:		
				
Level 1: Quoted market price (unadjusted) in an active market for an identical instrument. A financial instrument is regarded as
quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry, group,
pricing service or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly recurring market transactions on an arm’s length
basis. 						
								
Level 2: Valuation techniques based on observable inputs, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). This
category includes instruments valued using: quoted market prices in active markets for similar instruments; quoted prices for identical
or similar instruments; or other valuation techniques where all significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market
data.						
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)						

								
a) Financial instruments (continued)						
								
(viii) Fair value hierarchy (continued)						
								
Level 3: Valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs. This category includes all instruments where the valuation
technique includes inputs based on unobservable data and the unobservable inputs have a significant effect on the instrument’s
valuation. This category includes instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments where significant
unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences between the instruments.				
		
The hierarchy used by the Group is set out in notes 4.2 and 10.						
								
For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers
have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.						
								
The Group determines the policies and procedures for both recurring fair value measurement, such as investment properties and
unquoted AFS financial assets, and for non-recurring measurement, such as assets held for sale in discontinued operation. 		
				
At each reporting date, the Group analyses the movements in the values of assets and liabilities which are required to be re-measured
or re-assessed as per the Group’s accounting policies. For this analysis, the Group verifies the major inputs applied in the latest
valuation by agreeing the information in the valuation computation to contracts and other relevant documents.			
			
For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the nature,
characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.				
		
(ix) Amortised cost measurement						
The amortised cost of a financial asset or liability is the amount at which the financial asset or liability is measured at initial recognition,
minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between
the initial amount recognised and the maturity amount, minus any reduction for impairment. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability.						
								
(x) Identification and measurement of impairment						
At each reporting date the Group assesses whether there is objective evidence that financial assets not carried at fair value through
profit or loss are impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets are impaired when objective evidence demonstrates that a
loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the assets, and that the loss event has an impact on the future cash flows of the
assets that can be estimated reliably.						
								
Objective evidence that financial assets (including equity securities) are impaired can include significant financial difficulty of the
borrower or issuer, default or delinquency by a borrower, restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group
would not otherwise consider, indications that a borrower or issuer will enter bankruptcy, the disappearance of an active market for a
security, or other observable data relating to a group of assets such as adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers or issuers
in the group, or economic conditions that correlate with defaults in the group. In addition, for an investment in an equity security, a
significant or prolonged decline in its fair value below its cost is objective evidence of impairment.					
The Group considers evidence of impairment for loans and advances and held-to-maturity investment securities at both a specific
asset and collective level.						
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)						

								
a) Financial instruments (continued)						
								
(x) Identification and measurement of impairment (continued)						
								
								
Individually assessed loans						
At each reporting date, the Group assesses on a case-by-case basis whether there is any objective evidence that a loan is impaired.
Impairment losses on assets carried at amortised cost are measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the financial
asset and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. This procedure is
applied to all accounts that are considered individually significant.						
								
In determining impairment losses on these loans, the following factors are considered:						
• the Group’s aggregate exposure to the customer;						
• the viability of the customer’s business model and capability to trade successfully out of financial difficulties and generate
sufficient cash flow to service its debt obligations;						
• the amount and timing of expected receipts and recoveries;						
• the likely dividend available on liquidation or bankruptcy;						
• the extent of other creditors’ commitments ranking ahead of, or pari passu with, the Group and the likelihood of other creditors
continuing to support the company;						
• the complexity of determining the aggregate amount and ranking of all creditor claims and the extent to which legal and
insurance uncertainties are evident;						
• the realisable value of security (or other credit mitigants) and likelihood of successful repossession; 				
• the likely deduction of any costs involved in recovery of amounts outstanding; and						
• the ability of the borrower to obtain, and make payments in, the currency of the loan if not local currency.			
• When available, the secondary market price of debt.						
								
Impairment losses are recognised in consolidated income statement and reflected in an allowance account against loans and advances.
When a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss.						
								
Collectively assessed loans						
Impairment is determined on a collective basis in two different scenarios:						
• for loans subject to individual assessment to cover losses which have been incurred but have not yet been identified; and		
• for homogeneous groups of loans that are not considered individually significant.						
Incurred but not yet identified impairment						
Individually assessed loans for which no evidence of loss has been identified (performing loans) are grouped together according
to their credit risk characteristics for the purpose of calculating an estimated collective loss.					
This arises from individual loan impairment at the reporting date which will only be specifically identified in the future.		
The collective impairment loss is determined after taking into account:						
• historical loss experience in portfolios of similar risk characteristics (for example, by industry sector, loan grade or product);
• the estimated period between impairment occurring and the loss being identified and evidenced by the establishment of an
appropriate specific allowance against the individual loan; and						
• management’s judgment as to whether current economic and credit conditions are such that the actual level of inherent losses
is likely to be greater or less than that suggested by historical experience.						
								
The period between a loss occurring and its identification is estimated by the management for each portfolio grouping.		
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)						

								
a) Financial instruments (continued)						
								
(x) Identification and measurement of impairment (continued)
					
								
Homogeneous groups of loans						
For homogeneous groups of loans that are not considered individually significant, the Group uses historical trends of the probability
of default, timing of recoveries and the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for management’s judgment as to whether current economic
and credit conditions are such that the actual losses are likely to be greater or less. Default rates, loss rates and the expected timing
of future recoveries are regularly benchmarked against actual outcomes to ensure that they remain appropriate.			
			
Impairment on investments classified as available-for-sale						
The Group determines that available-for-sale equity investments are impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged decline
in the fair value below its cost. Impairment losses on available-for-sale investment securities are recognised by transferring the
cumulative loss that has been recognised in OCI to consolidated income statement as a recycle adjustment. The cumulative loss that
is recycled from OCI to consolidated income statement is the difference between the acquisition cost, net of any principal repayment
and amortisation, and the current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in consolidated income statement.
Changes in impairment provisions attributable to time value are reflected as a component of interest income.			
If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale debt security increases and the increase can be objectively
related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in consolidated income statement, the impairment loss is reversed
through consolidated income statement to the extent of amount earlier recognised as impairment loss. However, any subsequent
recovery in the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale equity security is not reversed through the consolidated income statement
and is recognised directly in other comprehensive income.						
								
Impairment on investments classified as associates					
Management reviews its share of investments in associates to assess impairment on a regular basis. In determining the assessment,
management compares the recoverable amount with the carrying value of the investment. Estimating recoverable amount using value
in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the associates and choosing a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.						
								
b) Derivative financial instruments 						
								
(i) Classification						
The Group enters into derivative financial instruments including forwards, futures, swaps and options in the foreign exchange and
capital markets. Derivative financial instruments, that do not qualify for hedge accounting are classified as “FVPL – financial assets
held for trading” financial instruments.						
								
(ii) Initial and subsequent measurement						
In the normal course of business, the fair value of a derivative on initial recognition is the transaction price. Subsequent to initial
recognition, derivative financial instruments are stated at fair values. Fair values are generally obtained by reference to quoted market
prices in active markets, or by using valuation techniques when an active market does not exist. The positive mark to market values
(unrealised gains) of derivative financial instruments is included in other assets. While, the negative mark to market values (unrealised
losses) of derivative financial instruments is included in other liabilities. 						
								
(iii) Gains and losses on subsequent measurement						
The gains or losses from derivative financial instruments classified as held for trading are taken to the consolidated income statement.
c) Hedging instruments						
As part of its asset and liability management, the Group uses derivatives for hedging purpose.					
When derivatives are designated as hedges, the Group classifies them as either:						
• fair value hedges which hedge the change in the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities; or				
• cash flow hedges which hedge the exposure to variability in highly probable future cash flows attributable to a recognised asset
or liability or a forecast transaction. 						
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)						
								
c) Hedging instruments (continued)

Hedge accounting is applied to derivatives designated as hedging instruments in fair value or cash flow hedge provided certain criteria
are met.						
								
Hedge accounting 						
								
(i) Hedge documentation						
At the inception of the hedge, formal documentation of the hedge relationship must be established. The hedge documentation prepared
at the inception of the hedge must include a description of the following:						
•
•
•
•

The Group’s risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge;						
The nature of risk being hedged;						
Clear identification of the hedged item and the hedging instrument; and						
How the Group will assess the effectiveness of the hedging relationship on an ongoing basis.					

(ii) Hedge effectiveness testing						
The hedge is regarded as highly effective if both of the following conditions are met:						
								
• At the inception of the hedge and in subsequent periods, the hedge is expected to be highly effective in offsetting the changes
in fair value or cash flows of the hedging instruments with corresponding changes in the hedged risk and should be reliably
measurable; and						
• The actual results of the hedge effectiveness testing are within a range of 80 to 125 percent.					
In case of a cash flow hedge, prospective hedge effectiveness is assessed by matching the critical terms of hedging instruments and
hedged items.						
								
(iii) Fair value hedge						
The changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedge instruments is recognised in the
consolidated income statement.						
								
(iv) Cash flow hedges
					
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised in
OCI.
Any gain or loss in fair value relating to an ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the consolidated income
statement.								
(v) Discontinuance of hedge accounting						
The hedge accounting is discontinued when a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria
for hedge accounting. At that point of time, any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument that has been recognised in OCI
remains in other comprehensive income until the forecast transaction occurs. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to
occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in other comprehensive income is immediately transferred to the consolidated
income statement.						
								
(vi) Hedges that do not qualify for hedge accounting						
For hedges that do not qualify for hedge accounting, any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument
are taken directly to the consolidated income statement for the period.						
								
d) Due from banks						
Amounts due from banks are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost less provision for
impairment, if any.						
e) Loans and advances and Islamic financing								
Loans and advances are initially measured at fair value plus incremental direct transaction costs, and subsequently measured at their
amortised cost using the effective interest method, except when the Group chooses to carry the loans and advances at fair value
through profit or loss.						
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)						

								
e) Loans and advances and Islamic financing (continued)
								
In addition to conventional banking products, the Group offers its customers certain Islamic financing products, which are approved
by Sharia’a Supervisory Board. Islamic Financing consists of the following:						
								
Murabaha 						
An agreement whereby the Group sells to a customer, commodity or asset (subject asset), which the Group has purchased and
acquired, based on a promise received from the customer to buy the item purchased according to specific terms and conditions. The
selling price comprises the cost of the subject asset and an agreed profit margin. Income is recognised on an accrual basis adjusted
by actual income when received.						
								
Ijarah						
Ijarah refers to lease of the asset, which the Group (Lessor) constructs or purchases as per customer (Lessee) request based on the
promise to lease the asset for a fixed term against certain rent installment. Ijara can end by transferring the ownership of the asset to
the lessee in case of Ijara Muntahia Bittamleek.						
								
Musharaka						
An agreement whereby the Group and a customer contribute to a certain enterprise according to a diminishing arrangement ending
up with the acquisition by the customer of the full ownership. The profit is shared as per the agreement set between both parties while
the loss is shared in proportion to their shares of capital in the enterprise.						
								
Islamic financing products are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
profit method, less any amounts written off, allowance for doubtful accounts and unearned income.				
		
The effective profit rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash flow through the expected life of the financial asset
or liability. 						
						
f) Investment properties carried at cost and held for sale						
The Group holds certain properties for its own use as well as to lease out. The leased out or intended to lease out components have
been classified as investment properties. Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. The carrying
amount includes the cost of replacing part of an existing investment property at the time that cost is incurred, if the recognition
criteria are met and excludes the costs of day-to-day servicing of an investment property. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are stated at cost less any accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 				
		
Depreciation is charged using straight line method over the useful life of the asset. Estimated useful life of buildings is 20 to 30
years.						
Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal
of an investment property are recognised in the consolidated income statement under ‘other income’ in the year of retirement or
disposal.						
Transfers are made to investment properties when, and only when there is change in use evidenced by ending of owner-occupation,
commencement of an operating lease of another party or ending of construction or development.					
Transfers are made from investment properties when, and only when, there is a change in use evidenced by commencement of
owner-occupation. Non current assets classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value
less costs to sell. Non current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a
sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the
asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition, management has committed to the sale, and the sale is expected to have
been completed within one year from the date of classification.						
								
g) Property and equipment						
Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses except for granted land, which is
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g) Property and equipment (continued)

stated at the market value at the date of grant. 						
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of replacing an item of property and
equipment is recognised in the carrying value of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the
part will flow to the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. The day-to-day servicing expenses of property and equipment are
recognised in the consolidated income statement as incurred.						
The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property and equipment is determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal with the
carrying amount of the item of property and equipment. These are included in the consolidated income statement.			
			
Property and equipment is impaired if the carrying amount of the asset or its cash generating unit exceed its recoverable amount.
The impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement.						
The cost of all property and equipment other than freehold land and capital work in progress is depreciated using the straight-line
method over the following estimated useful lives:						
		
			Buildings					20 to 30 years			
			Leasehold improvements				5 years			
		
Furniture, equipment and vehicles			
3 to 5 years			
								
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at each reporting date and prospectively adjusted if appropriate.
					
Capital work in progress is initially recorded at cost, and upon completion is transferred to the appropriate category of property and
equipment and thereafter depreciated in accordance with the Group’s policies.							
					
h) Due to banks, Notes and medium term borrowing						
Amounts due to banks, notes and medium term borrowing are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, and are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.						
								
i) Repurchase agreement						
When the Group sells a financial asset and simultaneously enters into an agreement to repurchase the asset at a fixed price on a future
date the agreement is accounted for as a term borrowing depending on period of the agreement, and the underlying asset continues
to be recognised in the Group’s financial statement.						
								
j) Customers’ deposits and Islamic Customers’ deposits
					
Customers’ deposits are initially recognised at fair value, being the fair value of the consideration received. After initial recognition,
all deposits are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking
into account any transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or receipt of customer deposit.			
The Islamic customer deposits are received by entering into following kinds of agreements: 					
Mudaraba						
An agreement between the Group and a third party whereby one party would provide a certain amount of funds which the other party
(Mudarib) would then invest in a specific enterprise or activity against a specific share in the profit. The Mudarib would bear the loss
in case of default, negligence or violation of any of the terms and conditions of the Mudaraba.					
Wakala				
An agreement between Group and third party whereby one party (Muwakil) provides certain amount of funds which the other party
(Wakil) would invest according to the terms and conditions of Wakala in return for a certain fee. The Wakil is obliged to return the
invested amount in case of default, negligence or violation of any of the terms and conditions of the Wakala.			
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j) Customers’ deposits and Islamic Customers’ deposits (continued)
			
Islamic customers’ deposits are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, and subsequently measured at their amortised
cost using the effective profit method.						
								
k)Provisions						
A provision is recognised if as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated
reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by
discounting the expected future cash flows at a rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.						
l) Employees’ terminal benefits and long-term incentive arrangements						
Provision is made for amounts payable under the UAE Federal Labour Law applicable to non UAE nationals’ accumulated periods of
service at the reporting date. The Group pays its contributions in respect of UAE nationals and GCC citizens under the UAE Pension
and Social Security Law. Effective from 1 January 2007, the Group introduced a long term incentive plan (“the plan”). Under this
plan certain key employees are eligible for an incentive at the offering date contingent upon the Group’s performance up to an award
date. The award is the percentage of the actual salary of the eligible key employees. The salary includes the basic salary, allowance,
national allowance and cost of living allowance as at the effective date. The obligation towards the plan is accrued in the period when
the key employees are eligible for such awards in accordance with the plan.							
					
m) Share capital						
The Group classifies capital instruments as financial liabilities or equity instruments in accordance with the substance of the contractual
terms of the instruments. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of an equity instrument are deducted from the initial
measurement of the equity instruments. 						
								
n) Dividend on ordinary shares						
Dividends payable on ordinary shares are recognised as a liability in the period in which they are approved by the Bank’s
shareholders.						
								
o) Offsetting						
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial position when, and only when,
the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and it intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 						
Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under IFRSs, or of gains and losses arising from a group of
similar transactions such as in the Group’s trading activity.					
p) Cash and cash equivalents
For the purposes of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and balances with the
Central Bank (excluding statutory reserve), and amounts due from and due to banks with original maturity less than three months.
Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost in the statement of financial position.					
q) Revenue recognition						
(i) Interest income and expense						
Interest income and expense for all interest bearing financial instruments except for those classified as held for trading or designated
at fair value through profit or loss, are recognised in ‘interest income’ and ‘interest expense’ in the consolidated income statement
on an accrual basis using the effective interest rates of the financial assets or financial liabilities to which they relate. Interest income
and expense for financial instruments classified as held for trading or designated at fair value through profit or loss is recognised as
trading income.
The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments earned or paid on a financial asset
or a liability through its expected life or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or
financial liability. The effective interest rate is established on initial recognition of the financial asset and liability and is not revised
subsequently.
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q) Revenue recognition (continued)
(i) Interest income and expense (continued)											
		
When calculating effective interest rates, the Group estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instruments,
but not future credit losses. The calculation includes all amounts paid or received by the Group that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate, including transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.						
							
(ii) Income from Islamic financing and distributions to depositors						
Income from Islamic financing is recognised in the consolidated income statement using the effective profit method.			
			
The calculation of the effective profit rate includes all fees paid or received, transaction costs, and discounts or premiums that are an
integral part of the effective profit rate. Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue
or disposal of a financial asset.						
							
Distribution to Depositors (Islamic products) is calculated according to the Group’s standard procedures and is approved by the
Group’s Sharia’a Supervisory Board.						
							
(iii) Fees and commission						
Fees and commission income and expenses that are integral to the effective interest rate on a financial asset or liability are included
in the measurement of effective interest rate.						
							
Other fees and commission income earned from the provision of services are recognised as revenue, as and when the services are
rendered or on a time proportion basis as applicable.						
							
(iv) Income from investments						
Net income from investments at fair value through profit or loss which arises from gains and losses resulting from disposal, and
from the fair valuation of such investments, are recognised when they occur. Gains resulting from disposal of AFS investments are
recognised in profit or loss when they occur. Gains resulting from valuation are recognised in OCI until disposal at which time it
will be recycled to profit or loss.						
							
(v) Property related income						
Property related income includes rental income, which is recognised on a straight line basis over the term of the lease. 		
				
(vi) Dividend income						
Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s right to receive the payment is established.					
(vii) Share of profit from associate						
Share of profit from associate reflects the Group’s share of the results of operations of the associate.				
			
(viii) Foreign currencies						
Foreign currency transactions are recorded at rates of exchange ruling at the value dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date, which are stated at historical cost, are translated at the foreign
exchange rate ruling at that date. 						
							
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, which are stated at historical cost, are translated at the foreign
exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are
stated at fair value are translated to AED at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates that the fair values were determined.		
				
Forward foreign exchange contracts are translated into AED at market rates of exchange ruling at the reporting date. Foreign
exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in the consolidated income statement.					
r) Leasing						
The Group has entered into leasing arrangements which based on the evaluation of the terms and condition of the leasing arrangement
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r) Leasing (continued)
has been classified as operating lease. Leases are classified as operating leases if risk and reward incidental to ownership of the leased
asset lie with lessor.						
							
Group as lessor						
Asset subjected to operating lease are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position according to the nature of the
asset. Income from operating leases are recognised in the consolidated income statement on straight line basis over the lease term.
					
Group as lessee					
Lease payments under operating leases are recognised as expense on a straight line basis over the lease term.			
			
s) Fiduciary activities
The Group provides wealth management solutions to manage client assets. These assets are held in the Group’s custody and are
invested on behalf of the client in third party funds, and other securities like bonds and sukuk. 					
These assets and income arising from these assets are not included in the Group’s consolidated financial statements as the risk and
rewards incidental to ownership of these assets lie with the client.						
							
t) Financial guarantees
In the ordinary course of business, the Group gives financial guarantees, consisting of letters of credit, guarantees and acceptances.
Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the financial statements at fair value, being the premium received. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the Group’s liability under each guarantee is measured at the higher of the amount initially recognised less cumulative
amortisation recognised in the consolidated income statement, and the best estimate of amount required to settle any financial
obligation arising as a result of the guarantee.						
							
u) Derivative product types
Forwards are contractual agreements to either buy or sell a specified currency, commodity or financial instrument at a specific price
and date in the future. Forwards are customized contracts transacted in the over-the-counter market. 				
		
Swaps are contractual agreements between two parties to exchange interest or foreign currency differentials based on a specific
notional amount. For interest rate swaps, counterparties generally exchange fixed and floating rate interest payments based on a
notional value in a single currency. For currency swaps, the underlying amounts are exchanged in different currencies. Options are
contractual agreements that convey the right, but not the obligation, to either buy or sell a specific amount of a commodity or financial
instrument at a fixed price, either at a fixed future date or at any time within a specified period.					
I. Derivative related credit risk						
Credit risk in respect of derivative financial instruments arises from the potential for a counterparty to default on its contractual
obligations and is limited to the positive fair value of instruments that are favorable to the Group and potential future fluctuations.
The majority of the fair value of favorable contracts (and therefore credit risk) is exposure to financial institutions. 			
			
II. Derivatives held or issued for trading purposes						
Most of the Group’s derivative trading activities relate to sales and position coverage. Sales activities involve offering products to
customers at competitive prices in order to enable them to transfer, modify or reduce current and expected risks. 			
Interest rate derivatives trading are conducted under Board approved limits.						
Derivatives are initially recognised in the consolidated financial statements at its fair value, being the premium received / paid.
Subsequent to initial recognition derivatives (held for trading) are measured at fair value with fair value changes recognised in the
consolidated income statement.						
							
v) Acceptances						
Acceptances arise when the Bank is under an obligation to make payments against documents drawn under letters of credit. Acceptances
specify the amount of money, the date, and the person to which the payment is due. After acceptance, the instrument becomes an
unconditional liability (time draft) of the Group and is therefore recognised as a financial liability in the consolidated statement of
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v) Acceptances (continued)
financial position with a corresponding contractual right of reimbursement from the customer recognised as a financial asset.		
				
w) Earnings per share						
The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the
profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Bank by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during
the year. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.					
x) Segment reporting						
An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur
expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other components, whose operating
results are reviewed regularly by the Business Committee of the Group to make decisions about resources allocated to the segment
and assess its performance, and for which distinct financial information is available. Segment results that are reported to the Business
Committee of the Group include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.
					
y) Related Parties						
An entity is considered related party of the Group if:
a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if that person:					
i. has control or joint control of the Group;						
ii. has significant influence over the Group; or						
iii. is a member of the key management personnel of the Group.						
b) An entity is related to a Group if any of the following conditions applies:						
i. The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow 			
subsidiary is related to the others).
ii. One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a group 		
of which the other entity is a member).						
iii. Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.						
iv. One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity.				
v. The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).						
vi. A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 					
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).						
							
z) Use of estimates and judgments						
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of accounting policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Such estimates are necessarily
based on assumptions about several factors involving varying degrees of judgment and uncertainty and actual results may therefore
differ, resulting in future changes in these estimates.						
							
In particular, considerable management judgment is required in respect of the following issues:					
Impairment losses on loans and advances and Islamic financing						
The Group reviews its loan portfolios to assess impairment at each reporting date. In determining whether an impairment loss should
be recorded in the consolidated income statement, the Group makes judgments as to whether there is any observable data indicating
that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of loans before the decrease can be identified
with an individual loan in that portfolio.						
						
This evidence may include observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change in the payment status of borrowers in
a group, or national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on assets in the group. Management uses estimates
based on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics and objective evidence of impairment similar to those
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z) Use of estimates and judgments (continued)
Impairment losses on loans and advances and Islamic financing (continued)
in the portfolio when scheduling its future cash flows (excluding future expected credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The
methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce
any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.						
							
Held-to-maturity investments						
The Group follows the guidance of IAS 39 in classifying non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and
fixed maturity as held-to-maturity. This classification requires significant judgment. In making this judgment, the Group evaluates
its intention and ability to hold such investments to maturity. If the Group fails to keep these investments to maturity other than for
the specific circumstances – for example, selling an insignificant amount close to maturity – it will be required to reclassify the entire
class as available-for-sale. The investments would therefore be measured at fair value and not amortized cost. 			
			
Impairment of available-for-sale investments						
The Group determines that available-for-sale equity investments are impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged decline
in the fair value below its cost. This determination of what is significant or prolonged requires judgment. In making this judgment,
the Group evaluates among other factors, the normal volatility in share price. In addition, impairment may be appropriate when
there is evidence of deterioration in the financial health of the investee, industry and sector performance, changes in technology or
operational and financing cash flows.						
							
Impairment of investment property		
Investment properties are assessed for impairment based on assessment of cash flows on individual cash-generating units when
there is indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. Cash flows are determined with reference to recent market
conditions, prices existing at the end of the reporting period, contractual agreements and estimations over the useful lives of the assets
and discounted using a range of discounting rates that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. The net present values are compared to the carrying amounts to assess any probable impairment.
Impairment of non-financial assets					
The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of
impairment. If such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the consolidated income statement. For
the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows
(cash-generating units). Non-financial assets, which suffered impairment, are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at
each reporting date.						
							
Going concern						
The Group’s management has made an assessment of its ability to continue as going concern and is satisfied that it has the resources
to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, managements is not aware of any material uncertainities that may
cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the financial statements continue to be prepared
on the going concern basis.						
							
aa) Standards and interpretation 					
Issued and effective for accounting periods beginning on 1 January 2016						
							
Following are the amendments to IFRSs which have been applied by the Group in these consolidated financial statements. The
adoption of these amendments has no significant impact on the financial performance or position of the Group. Amendments that
are relevant to the Group’s financial statements are set out below:						
							
Amendments to IAS 1 - Disclosure Initiative 					
“The amendments to IAS 1 clarify, rather than significantly change, existing IAS 1 requirements. The amendments clarify:
•

The materiality requirements in IAS 1
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aa) Standards and interpretation (continued)
Issued and effective for accounting periods beginning on 1 January 2016 (continued)
Amendments to IAS 1 - Disclosure Initiative (continued)
•
•
•

That specific line items in the statement(s) of profit or loss and OCI and the statement of financial position may be 		
disaggregated
That entities have flexibility as to the order in which they present the notes to financial statements
That the share of OCI of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method must be presented 			
in aggregate as a single line item, and classified between those items that will or will not be subsequently 			
reclassified to profit or loss.”

Furthermore, the amendments clarify the requirements that apply when additional subtotals are presented in the statement of financial
position and the statement of profit or loss and OCI. 						
							
Annual Improvements 2010-2012 Cycle						
These improvements are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. They include:				
		
IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations						
Assets (or disposal groups) are generally disposed of either through sale or distribution to owners. The amendment clarifies that
changing from one of these disposal methods to the other would not be considered a new plan of disposal, rather it is a continuation
of the original plan. There is, therefore, no interruption of the application of the requirements in IFRS 5. 				
		
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures						
(i) Servicing contracts:						
“The amendment clarifies that a servicing contract that includes a fee can constitute continuing involvement in a financial asset. An
entity must assess the nature of the fee and the arrangement against the guidance for continuing involvement in IFRS 7 in order to
assess whether the disclosures are required. The assessment of which servicing contracts constitute continuing involvement must be
done retrospectively. However, the required disclosures would not need to be provided for any period beginning before the annual
period in which the entity first applies the amendments.”						
							
(ii)Applicability of the amendments to IFRS 7 to condensed interim financial statements:					
The amendment clarifies that the offsetting disclosure requirements do not apply to condensed interim financial statements, unless
such disclosures provide a significant update to the information reported in the most recent annual report. This amendment must be
applied retrospectively.						
							
IAS 19 Employee Benefits						
The amendment clarifies that market depth of high quality corporate bonds is assessed based on the currency in which the obligation
is denominated, rather than the country where the obligation is located. When there is no deep market for high quality corporate
bonds in that currency, government bond rates must be used. 						
							
Issued but not yet effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016					
IFRS 9 – Financial instruments						
The complete version of IFRS 9 replaces most of the guidance in IAS 39. IFRS 9 brings together all three aspects of the accounting
for financial instruments project: classification and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting. IFRS 9 is effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.						
							
(a) Classification and measurement						
IFRS 9 retains but simplifies the mixed measurement model and establishes three primary measurement categories for financial
assets:						
							
(i)
amortised cost						
(ii)
fair value through other comprehensive income (OCI); and						
(iii)
fair value through profit and loss						
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aa) Standards and interpretation (continued)
Issued but not yet effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016 (continued)
(a) Classification and measurement (continued)
The basis of classification depends on the entity’s business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.
For financial liabilities, there were no changes to classification and measurement except for the recognition of changes in own credit
risk in other comprehensive income, for liabilities designated at fair value, through profit or loss. 					
(b) Impairment
There is now a new expected credit losses model that replaces the incurred loss impairment model used in IAS 39. IFRS 9 requires the
Group to record expected credit losses on all of its debt securities, loans and receivables, either on a 12-month or lifetime basis.
					
(c) Hedging
IFRS 9 relaxes the requirements for hedge effectiveness by replacing the bright line hedge effectiveness tests. It requires an economic
relationship between the hedged item and hedging instrument and for the ‘hedged ratio’ to be the same as the one management actually
use for risk management purposes. Contemporaneous documentation is still required but is different to that currently prepared under
IAS 39.						
IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from contracts with Customers’.						
“This is the converged standard on revenue recognition. It replaces IAS 11, ‘Construction contracts’, IAS 18,’Revenue’ and related
interpretations. Revenue is recognised when a customer obtains control of a good or service. A customer obtains control when it
has the ability to direct the use of and obtain the benefits from the good or service. The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity
recognises revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.”
IFRS 15 also includes a cohesive set of disclosure requirements that will result in an entity providing users of financial statements
with comprehensive information about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from the entity’s
contracts with customers. The new standard will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.”		
IFRS 16 – Leases 						
IFRS 16 Leases requires lessees to recognise assets and liabilities for most leases. For lessors, there is little change to the existing
accounting in IAS 17 Leases. The new standard will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Early
application is permitted, provided the new revenue standard, IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, has been applied.
IAS 7 – Statement of cash flows						
The amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows are part of the IASB’s Disclosure Initiative and help users of financial statements
better understand changes in an entity’s debt. The amendments require entities to provide disclosures about changes in their liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes (such as foreign exchange
gains or losses). The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017.				
		
Transfers of investment property – amendments to IAS 40						
“The amendments clarify when an entity should transfer property, including property under construction or development into, or out
of investment property. The amendments state that a change in use occurs when the property meets, or ceases to meet, the definition
of investment property and there is evidence of the change in use. A mere change in management’s intentions for the use of a property
does not provide evidence of a change in use. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.
The Group is in the process of analyzing the impact of IFRS 9. The Group has assessed the impact of other standards, amendments
to standards, revisions and interpretations. Based on the assessment, the above standards, amendments to standards, revisions and
interpretations (excluding IFRS 9) are not expected to have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group
as at the reporting date.”

56 | Commercial Bank of Dubai

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) For the year ended 31 December 2016

4. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 						

								
4.1 Financial assets and liabilities classification						
								
The table below sets out the Group’s assets and liabilities classification in accordance with the categories of financial instruments in
IAS 39:						
Fair value
through
Held-toProfit or loss maturity

Loans and
receivables

Availablefor-sale at
fair value

Other amortised Total carrying
cost
amount

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

Cash and balances with central bank

-

-

-

-

6,712,466

6,712,466

Due from banks

-

-

-

-

3,724,254

3,724,254

Loans and advances and Islamic financing

-

-

41,962,538

-

-

41,962,538

Investment securities

-

388,293

-

7,029,984

-

7,418,277

Bankers acceptances

-

-

-

-

3,056,956

3,056,956

77,330

-

-

-

285,460

362,790

388,293 41,962,538 7,029,984

13,779,136

63,237,281

2016

Other assets

Total financial assets

77,330

Due to banks

-

-

-

-

1,560,148

1,560,148

Customers’ deposits and Islamic customers’
deposits

-

-

-

-

43,773,824

43,773,824

Notes and medium term borrowing

-

-

-

-

6,080,537

6,080,537

Due for trade acceptances

-

-

-

-

3,056,956

3,056,956

55,438

-

-

-

759,320

814,758

55,438

-

-

-

55,230,785

55,286,223

Cash and balances with central bank

-

-

-

-

6,668,065

6,668,065

Due from banks

-

-

-

-

2,591,717

2,591,717

Loans and advances and Islamic financing

-

-

39,020,821

-

-

39,020,821

Investment securities

19,898

-

-

6,603,131

-

6,623,029

Bankers acceptances

-

-

-

-

1,871,598

1,871,598

Other assets

46,253

-

-

-

249,094

295,347

Total financial assets

66,151

-

39,020,821

6,603,131

11,380,474

57,070,577

Due to banks

-

-

-

-

1,111,462

1,111,462

Customers’ deposits and Islamic customers’
deposits

-

-

-

-

40,474,776

40,474,776

Notes and medium term borrowing

-

-

-

-

5,492,694

5,492,694

Due for trade acceptances

-

-

-

-

1,871,598

1,871,598

Other liabilities

39,988

-

-

-

533,476

573,464

Total financial liabilities

39,988

-

-

-

49,484,006

49,523,994

Other liabilities

Total financial liabilities
2015

The carrying values of the financial assets and liabilitites (that are not stated at fair value) are not significantly different from
their fair values.
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4. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (continued)						
								
4.2 Fair value measurement – Fair value hierarchy:						
								
The below table, shows the fair value hierarchy of the financial assets and the financial liabilities:
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

144,931

-

-

-

75,487

-

6,809,566

-

-

Held for trading

-

59,191

-

Held for fair value hedge

-

16,092

-

Held for cash flow hedge

-

2,047

-

Held for trading

-

(51,282)

-

Held for fair value hedge

-

(2,805)

-

Held for cash flow hedge

-

(1,351)

-

6,954,497

97,379

-

149,413

-

-

-

264,165

-

6,209,451

-

-

Held for trading

-

45,307

-

Held for cash flow hedge

-

946

-

-

(39,988)

-

6,358,864

270,430

-

2016
Investments
Equity
Fund of funds
Fixed and floating rate securities
Positive market value of forward foreign exchange contracts and other derivatives

Negative market value of forward foreign exchange contracts and other derivatives

2015
Investments
Equity
Fund of funds
Fixed and floating rate securities
Positive market value of forward foreign exchange contracts and other derivatives

Negative market value of forward foreign exchange contracts and other derivatives
Held for trading

During the year there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy above and no financial instruments
were classified within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy at any time during the current or prior year. Further, there has been no change
in the valuation techniques in relation to valuation of financial instruments during the current or prior year.		

5. CASH AND BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANK
2016

2015

AED’000

AED’000

515,182

530,397

718,248

497,509

- Statutory reserves

2,879,036

2,640,159

- Negotiable certificates of deposit

2,600,000

3,000,000

6,712,466

6,668,065

Cash on hand
Balances with U.A.E Central Bank
- Clearing account balances
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5. CASH AND BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANK (continued)
Statutory reserves are not available for use in the Group’s day to day operations and cannot be withdrawn without the approval of
the Central Bank. The level of reserves required changes periodically in accordance with the directives of the Central Bank.

6. DUE FROM BANKS
2016

2015

AED’000

AED›000

718,858

105,858

2,656,461

2,138,058

348,935

347,801

3,724,254

2,591,717

Current and demand deposits
Placements
Loans to Banks

Placements include cash collaterals amounting to AED 351.5 million (2015: AED 194.3 million) placed against repurchase
agreements.						
The geographical concentration is disclosed in note 33b.						

7. LOANS AND ADVANCES AND ISLAMIC FINANCING

The composition of the loans and advances and Islamic financing portfolio is as follows:					
2016

2015

Loans and advances

AED’000

AED›000

Overdrafts

4,591,758

4,911,254

32,636,897

30,788,689

Advances against letters of credit and trust receipts

1,275,189

1,137,057

Bills discounted

1,437,892

1,210,009

39,941,736

38,047,009

Murabaha

2,173,745

1,846,936

Ijara

2,516,634

1,513,593

-

10,947

481,723

278,961

5,172,102

3,650,437

Gross loans and advances and Islamic financing

45,113,838

41,697,446

Allowances for impairment losses

(3,151,300)

(2,676,625)

41,962,538

39,020,821

Loans

Gross loans and advances
Islamic financing

Musharaka
Others

Gross Islamic financing

Net loans and advances and Islamic financing
The movements in allowances for impairment losses are as follows:
Interest
suspended

Specific
provisions

Collective
provisions

Total

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

Opening balance 1 January 2016

381,943

1,615,893

678,789

2,676,625

Interest not recognised / new provisions raised

291,039

590,770

92,541

974,350

Written-off

(51,221)

(278,579)

-

(329,800)

Recoveries / reversal to income

(91,100)

(78,775)

-

(169,875)

Closing balance 31 December 2016

530,661

1,849,309

771,330

3,151,300

Less:
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7. LOANS AND ADVANCES AND ISLAMIC FINANCING (continued)
Interest
suspended

Specific
provisions

Collective
provisions

Total

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

Opening balance 1 January 2015

497,642

2,014,080

525,219

3,036,941

Interest not recognised / new provisions
raised

186,990

347,826

153,570

688,386

(237,698)

(664,588)

-

(902,286)

Recoveries / reversal to income

(64,991)

(81,425)

-

(146,416)

Closing balance 31 December 2015

381,943

1,615,893

678,789

2,676,625

Less:
Written-off

The economic sector composition of the loans and advances and Islamic financing is set out in note 33b.				
		
In addition to the recoveries of AED 169.9 million, the Bank has received certain properties, amounting to AED 55.4 million, as a
settlement against a previously written off loan. As at 31 December 2016, the properties received have been included under investment
properties (note 10). During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group has hedged the fair value of certain fixed rate loans and
advances and Islamic financing. The carrying value of these loans and advances and Islamic financing was AED 295 million (2015:
NIL). The negative fair value of the hedged component was AED 108 thousand (2015: NIL).

8. INVESTMENT SECURITIES
UAE

GCC International

Total

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

- Government

-

-

-

-

- Others

-

-

-

-

144,931

-

-

144,931

-

11,701

63,786

75,487

- Government

2,316,693

749,208

249,688

3,315,589

- Others

1,774,259

1,136,540

349,113

3,259,912

188,457

45,608

-

234,065

269,902

103,163

15,228

388,293

4,694,242

2,046,220

2016
Held for trading
Fixed rate securities

Available-for-sale
Equities
Fund of funds
Fixed rate securities

Floating rate non-government securities

Held to maturity
Fixed rate non-government securities

Total investment securities
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8. INVESTMENT SECURITIES (continued)
UAE

GCC

International

Total

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

-

-

-

-

16,284

-

-

16,284

2015
Held for trading
Equities
Fixed rate securities
- Government
- Others

3,614

3,614

149,413

149,413

Available-for-sale
Equities
Fund of funds

458

21,127

242,580

264,165

- Government

2,208,097

396,761

126,556

2,731,414

- Others

1,693,656

771,333

532,876

2,997,865

333,720

61,795

64,759

460,274

4,405,242

1,251,016

966,771

6,623,029

Fixed rate securities

Floating rate non-government securities

Total investment securities

Included in available-for-sale investment securities is an amount of AED 1,399.2 million (2015: AED 665.2 million), pledged under
repurchase agreements with banks (note 15).						
						
There are certain AFS securities which have a significant or prolonged decline in their market value as compared to their cost which
resulted in an impairment loss of AED 8.2 million (2015: AED 12.6 million).						
						
As at 31 December 2016, the fair value of HTM securities is AED 387.9 million (2015: Nil). The fair value represents level 1 of the
fair value hierarchy.						
8.1 AFS debt securities						
								
The below table shows the rating of AFS and HTM debt securities:			
2016

2015

AED’000

AED’000

Rated Aaa to Aa3

1,204,304

492,159

Rated A1 to A3

2,385,142

2,296,764

Rated Baa1 to Baa3

2,214,364

2,320,484

Rated below Baa3

288,903

53,833

Unrated-Government

951,785

975,290

Unrated-others

153,361

51,023

7,197,859

6,189,553

The above represents approved rating from ECAI as per Central Bank U.A.E.
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8. INVESTMENT SECURITIES (continued)
8.2 Fund of funds investments
This represents investments in global and regional asset management funds as a part of the Group’s strategy of diversifying its
holdings. These investments are carried at net assets value provided by the respective fund managers.

9. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE
						
								

Equity accounting was applied using management information available at the time of the Board approval date and subsequent changes are not
considered material. The following is the aggregated financial information of the associate:		
2016

2015

AED’000

AED’000

1,261,476

1,093,247

Liabilities

827,028

631,111

Revenue

26,761

38,288

2016

2015

AED’000

AED’000

82,029

84,590

3,408

4,741

(2,662)

(6,653)

(200)

(649)

Others

(4,807)

-

At 31 December

77,768

82,029

Assets

At 1 January
Share of profit of associate
Dividends received
Share of Directors› remuneration of associate

Others represents Bank’s share of the adjustments which were recognized by an associate due to early adoption of new financial regulations for
insurance companies in 2015.

10. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
						
								
The movement in investment properties during the year is as follows:			

2016

2015

AED’000

AED’000

436,173

342,822

63,467

93,351

499,640

436,173

102,412

92,831

12,120

-

Charge for the year

9,917

9,581

At 31 December

124,449

102,412

375,191

333,761

Cost
At 1 January
Additions

At 31 December
Depreciation / Impairment
At 1 January
Impairment allowance against investment properties
(see note below)

Net book value
At 31 December
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10. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
Investment properties comprises buildings. Rental income from investment properties leased under operating lease recorded in other
income is AED 31.3 million (2015: AED 32.9 million).						
						
The fair value of investment properties as at 31 December 2016 is not materially different from their carrying value.			
During the year ended 31 December 2015, property with a carrying value of AED 91 million was transferred from other assets to
investment properties. This non cash transaction is included in additions during the year ended 31 December 2015. Investment
properties includes certain properties held for sale amounting to AED 142.3 million (2015: AED 91 million), these properties were
acquired in settlement of a previously written off loan. This includes an amount of AED 43.3 million, net of impairment allowance
of AED 12.1 million (gross value AED 55.4 million) (note 7).

11. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Freehold land
Leasehold
and buildings improvements

Furniture,
equipment &
vehicles

Capital work
in progress
(CWIP)

Total

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

391,374

57,854

330,583

9,112

788,923

3,682

2,935

2,849

57,646

67,112

Transfer from CWIP

-

-

12,673

(12,673)

-

Disposals

-

(5,121)

(1,940)

(290)

(7,351)

395,056

55,668

344,165

53,795

848,684

At 1 January 2016

148,003

36,663

271,940

-

456,606

Charge for the year

10,401

5,646

27,173

-

43,220

-

(4,675)

(1,678)

-

(6,353)

158,404

37,634

297,435

-

493,473

236,652

18,034

46,730

53,795

355,211

Freehold land
Leasehold
and buildings improvements

Furniture,
equipment &
vehicles

Capital work in
progress

Total

Cost
At 1 January 2016
Additions during the year

At 31 December 2016

Depreciation

On disposals
At 31 December 2016

Net book values
At 31 December 2016

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

385,328

38,404

305,506

12,269

741,507

6,046

3,549

6,590

34,102

50,287

Transfers

-

15,901

20,831

(36,732)

-

Disposals

-

-

(2,344)

(527)

(2,871)

391,374

57,854

330,583

9,112

788,923

At 1 January 2015

137,474

32,693

247,488

-

417,655

Charge for the year

10,529

3,970

26,559

-

41,058

-

-

(2,107)

-

(2,107)

148,003

36,663

271,940

-

456,606

243,371

21,191

58,643

9,112

332,317

Cost
At 1 January 2015
Additions during the year

At 31 December 2015

Depreciation

On disposals
At 31 December 2015

Net book values
At 31 December 2015
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11. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
Freehold land and buildings includes the market value of a plot of land granted to the Group by the Government of Dubai in 1998.
Granted land is valued at market value on the date of grant.						
						
The Group assessed whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired and concluded that there was no indication of
impairment.						

12. OTHER ASSETS		
2016

2015

AED’000

AED’000

262,790

223,968

Accounts receivable and prepayments

56,995

70,330

Positive mark to market value of derivatives (note 29)

77,330

46,253

397,115

340,551

Interest receivable

13. DUE TO BANKS		

Current and demand deposits
Short term borrowings

2016

2015

AED’000

AED’000

495,615

216,975

1,064,533

894,487

1,560,148

1,111,462

Short term borrowings include cash collaterals against repurchase agreements amounting to AED 358 million (2015:
AED 214 million).
14. CUSTOMERS’ DEPOSITS AND ISLAMIC CUSTOMERS’ DEPOSITS
Customers’ deposits

Current and demand accounts
Savings accounts
Time deposits

Islamic customers’ deposits

Current and demand accounts
Mudaraba savings accounts
Investment and Wakala deposits

Total customers’ deposits and Islamic customers’ deposits
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2016

2015

AED’000

AED’000

15,502,051

14,125,599

1,686,496

1,495,090

17,842,136

16,954,852

35,030,683

32,575,541

2016

2015

AED’000

AED’000

1,462,891

1,082,054

546,084

548,916

6,734,166

6,268,265

8,743,141

7,899,235

43,773,824

40,474,776

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) For the year ended 31 December 2016
14. CUSTOMERS’ DEPOSITS AND ISLAMIC CUSTOMERS’ DEPOSITS (continued)
By sector:

2016

2015

AED’000

AED’000

Government

10,815,329

8,664,490

Corporate

21,960,612

21,919,592

Personal

10,997,883

9,890,694

43,773,824

40,474,776

2016

2015

AED’000

AED’000

15.1

1,641,103

1,648,767

15.2

551,442

551,442

15.2

591,799

-

15.3

1,830,527

1,828,467

15.3

1,465,666

1,464,018

6,080,537

5,492,694

15. NOTES AND MEDIUM TERM BORROWINGS		

Syndicated loan
Repurchase agreements - I
Repurchase agreements - II
Euro medium term notes - I
Euro medium term notes - II

		

15.1 Syndicated loan						
In June 2016, the Group entered into a club deal of USD 450 million (AED 1,653 million) for a term of 3 years with an option to roll
over on a quarterly or semi-annual basis. This replaced the syndicated loan arrangement of USD 450 million maturing in December
2016, which was prepaid in June 2016 and carried interest at the rate of 3 month LIBOR plus 125 basis points payable on a quarterly
basis. The current arrangement carries interest at the rate of 3 month LIBOR plus 125 basis points payable on a quarterly basis.
					
15.2 Repurchase agreements						
In July 2012, the Group entered into Repo transactions to obtain financing against the sale of certain debt securities, amounting to
USD 150.1 million (AED 551.3 million) with arrangements to repurchase them at a fixed future date in July 2017. During the period
ended 30 June 2016 the arrangement of repurchase has been extended for additional five years till July 2022.			
			
In June 2016, the Group entered into additional Repo transactions to obtain financing against the sale of certain debt securities,
amounting to USD 161.1 million (AED 591.7 million) with arrangements to repurchase them at a fixed future date in June 2021.
					
These securities are carried at fair value amounting to AED1,399.2 million (USD 380.9 million) (2015: AED 665.2 million (USD
181.1 million)). 						
								
15.3 Euro medium term notes						
In 2013, CBD activated its Euro Medium Term Note (EMTN) program. These notes can be issued by way of private or public
placements and in each case on a syndicated or non-syndicated basis. These notes can be priced at fixed rate, floating rate or can
be index linked. The maximum issuance under the program was USD 2 billion (AED 7.3 billion). At the Annual General Meeting
(AGM) held on 28 February 2016 shareholders approved the increase of the program limit up to a total of USD 3 Billion (AED 11
billion). 						
								
In May 2013, CBD issued USD 500 million (AED 1,836.5 million) of conventional bonds. These notes were priced at 3.375 per cent
fixed rate and mature on 21 May 2018. 						
								
In November 2015, CBD issued USD 400 million (AED 1,469.2 million) of conventional bonds. These notes were priced at 4 per
cent fixed rate and mature on 17 November 2020.						
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16. OTHER LIABILITIES
2016

2015

AED’000

AED’000

162,534

117,043

65,722

66,777

Accounts payable

316,366

185,602

Accrued expenses

90,212

83,103

Manager cheques

160,167

137,957

Unearned fee income and deferred credits

78,249

54,084

Negative mark to market value of derivatives (note 29)

55,438

39,988

928,688

684,554

Interest payable
Employees’ terminal benefits

17. EQUITY
Share capital						
The fully paid up and authorised ordinary share capital as at 31 December 2016 comprised 2,802,733,968 ordinary shares of AED 1
each (2015: 2,802,733,968 shares of AED 1 each). The movement in no. of shares during the year is as follows:

As at 1 January
Bonus shares issued during the year

As at 31 December

2016

2015

2,802,733,968

2,242,187,174

-

560,546,794

2,802,733,968

2,802,733,968

Legal reserve						
The Group’s Article of Association in line with regulatory requirements require a minimum of 10% of annual net profit to be transferred
to legal reserve, until such time as this reserve equals 50% of share capital. During the year no transfer to legal reserve was required
(2015: AED 20,872 thousand) to meet the minimum regulatory requirement. The legal reserve is not available for distribution except
under the circumstances stipulated by the relevant law.						
						
Capital reserve 					
This reserve represents the market value of the granted land at the date of grant as explained in note 11, and is not available for
distribution to the shareholders.						
						
General reserve						
In accordance with the Group’s Articles of Association, a minimum of 10% of the annual net profit to be transferred to general
reserve until such time as this reserve equals 50% of share capital. During the current year an amount of AED 100,307 thousand
(2015: AED 106,623 thousand) was transferred to the general reserve. This reserve may only be used for the purposes recommended
by the Board of Directors and approved by the Shareholders.						
						
Cumulative changes in fair values of AFS investments and cash flow hedge instruments				
This represents the net change in the fair values of available-for-sale investments and derivative instruments designated as cash
flow hedge instruments held by the Group at reporting date. This reserve is not available for distribution to the shareholders until
realised.						
						
Proposed distribution						
The Board of Directors have proposed the following distribution for approval by the Annual General Meeting of the shareholders to
be held in March 2017.						
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17. EQUITY (continued)
Proposed distribution (continued)
						
i) Proposed cash dividend						
A cash dividend of 20% (2015: 20%) of the share capital amounting to AED 560,546,794 (2015: AED 560,546,794) is proposed
representing a dividend of AED 0.2 per share (2015: AED 0.2 per share).						
						
ii)Proposed bonus issue						
No bonus issue is proposed (2015: nil).						
						
iii) Proposed directors’ remuneration						
This represents Directors’ remuneration amounting to AED 11,000,000 (2015: AED 11,000,000) which has been treated as an
appropriation from equity.						

18. INTEREST INCOME AND INCOME FROM ISLAMIC FINANCING
2016

2015

AED’000

AED’000

1,847,774

1,652,277

4,940

1,315

11,133

4,973

2,445

-

182,994

155,658

2,049,286

1,814,223

2016

2015

AED’000

AED’000

94,712

60,814

117,854

82,955

Musharaka

46

522

Negotiable certificates of deposit with Central Bank

46

148

25,859

4,369

238,517

148,808

2,287,803

1,963,031

Interest income
Loans and advances
Negotiable certificates of deposit with the Central Bank
Due from banks
Investment securities
- Held-to-maturity bonds
- Available-for-sale bonds

Income from Islamic financing
Murabaha
Ijara

Investment securities
- Available-for-sale sukuk

Total interest income and income from Islamic financing
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19. INTEREST EXPENSE AND DISTRIBUTION TO ISLAMIC DEPOSITORS				
2016

2015

AED’000

AED’000

6,122

2,500

Customers’ deposits

242,513

142,323

Notes and medium term borrowings

184,393

116,196

2,578

1,948

435,606

262,967

127,044

60,033

127,044

60,033

562,650

323,000

Interest expense
Due to banks

Others

Distribution to Islamic depositors
Islamic customers’ deposits

Total interest expense and distribution
to Islamic depositors

Distribution to Islamic depositors represents the share of income allocated to Islamic depositors of the Group. The
allocation and distribution is approved by the Group’s Sharia’a Supervisory Board.
20. NET FEES AND COMMISSION INCOME
2016

2015

AED’000

AED’000

Lending activities

148,763

162,066

Trade finance activities

138,631

138,553

Account operating activities

164,925

158,176

82,568

75,073

534,887

533,868

(39,625)

(35,618)

495,262

498,250

Cards income and brokerage fees
Cards, commissions and brokerage expenses

21. NET GAINS FROM INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS - HELD FOR TRADING						

Net realised gains on sale of investments at fair value through
profit or loss- held for trading
Net unrealised gains / (losses) on investments at fair value
through profit or loss- held for trading
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2016

2015

AED’000

AED’000

924

2,540

-

(1,293)

924

1,247

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) For the year ended 31 December 2016
22. DIVIDEND INCOME

Investments at fair value through profit or loss - held for trading
Available-for-sale investments

2016

2015

AED’000

AED’000

-

16

7,449

6,051

7,449

6,067

23. STAFF AND OTHER EXPENSES
Staff and other expenses include staff related expenses of AED 609.6 million (2015: AED 606.7 million) and sitting fees paid to
directors for attending committee meetings during the year ended 31 December 2016 of AED 2.9 million (2015: AED 2.9 million)
and corporate social responsibility (CSR) related expenses of AED 1.94 million (2015: AED 2.97 million).		

24. OPERATING LEASES
Group as lessee						
General and administrative expenses include rental expense under operating leases of AED 21.1 million (2015: AED 21.94 million).
Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases as at 31 December are, as follows:		

Less than 1 year
From 1 year to 5 years

2016

2015

AED’000

AED’000

8,288

10,284

10,670

14,040

18,958

24,324

25. BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE
The earnings per share (EPS) is based on the Group’s profit for the year amounting to AED 1,003.1 million (2015: AED 1,066.2
million), and on the weighted average number of shares in issue totaling 2,802,733,968 (2015: 2,802,733,968). 			
			
There was no dilutive effect on earnings per share.

26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS						
								

Cash and cash equivalents included in the consolidated statement of cash flow comprise the following consolidated statement of
financial position amounts:
2016

2015

AED’000

AED’000

Cash on hand

515,182

530,397

Balances with the U.A.E. Central Bank

718,248

497,509

Negotiable certificates of deposit with the U.A.E. Central Bank with
original maturity less than three months

2,500,000

2,600,000

Due from banks with original maturity less than three months

3,198,680

2,243,916

6,932,110

5,871,822

(1,373,418)

(909,447)

5,558,692

4,962,375

Due to banks with original maturity less than three months
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27. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS
Contingent liabilities represent credit-related commitments to extend letters of credit, guarantees and forward foreign exchange
contracts which are designed to meet the requirements of the Group’s customers toward third parties. Commitments represent the
Group’s commitments towards approved un-drawn credit facilities. The amount of contingent liabilities reflected below represent
the maximum accounting loss that would be recognised at the reporting date if counterparties failed completely to perform as contracted. 							
2016

2015

AED’000

AED’000

Letters of credit

1,157,549

1,071,325

Guarantees

8,446,494

7,868,227

9,604,043

8,939,552

807,563

708,740

13,682,630

16,513,865

14,490,193

17,222,605

32,809

16,800

24,127,045

26,178,957

Contingent liabilities:

Undrawn commitments to extend credit:
- irrevocable
- revocable

Capital commitments:
Capital expenditure commitments

Total contingent liabilities and commitments

Acceptances
Under IAS 39, acceptances are recognised on balance sheet with a corresponding liability. Accordingly, there is no off balance sheet
commitment for acceptances.						

						
28. FIDUCIARY ASSETS						
						

Assets held under fiduciary capacity on behalf of clients amounted to AED 1,196.6 million (2015: AED 1,568.4 million).

29. DERIVATIVES							

									
The following table shows the positive and negative fair values of derivative financial instruments at the reporting date, together
with the notional amounts, analyzed by terms to maturity. The notional amount is the value of the derivative’s underlying asset and
is the basis upon which changes in the value of derivatives are measured. The notional amounts indicate the volume of transactions
outstanding at the year end and therefore, are neither indicative of the Group’s exposure to credit risk nor market risk. Credit risk on
derivatives is limited to its positive fair value if any.							
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29. DERIVATIVES (continued)

Notional
amount

Less than
three
months

From
three
months to
one year

From
one year
to five
years

Over Five
years

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

2,047

1,351

89,345

-

-

29,751

59,594

Positive
market
value

Negative
market
value

AED’000

Cash flow hedge instrument

31 December 2016
Fair value hedge instruments

16,092

2,805

555,144

-

-

114,669

440,475

Forward foreign exchange contracts and other
derivatives assets

59,191

-

5,286,473

2,481,758

661,802

903,994

1,238,919

Forward foreign exchange contracts and other
derivatives liabilities

-

51,282

3,320,197

1,435,237

463,109

411,776

1,010,075

77,330

55,438

Positive
market
value

Negative
market
value

AED’000

9,251,159 3,916,995 1,124,911 1,460,190 2,749,063

Notional
amount

Less than
three
months

From
three
months to
one year

From
one year
to five
years

Over Five
years

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

946

-

130,993

-

40,716

30,092

60,185

Forward foreign exchange contracts and other
derivatives assets

45,307

-

6,478,294

4,277,428

551,183

636,913

1,012,770

Forward foreign exchange contracts and other
derivatives liabilities

-

39,988

5,038,760

1,822,424

1,799,861

442,455

974,020

31 December 2015
Cash flow hedge instrument

46,253

39,988 11,648,047 6,099,852 2,391,760 1,109,460 2,046,975

Cash-flow hedge instruments include interest rate and cross currency swaps. Fair value hedge instruments include interest rate
swaps. 							
The hedged forecast cash-flows which are expected to occur over the future years and are expected to affect profit or loss, are
insignificant.							

30. SEGMENTAL REPORTING
The primary format, business segments, is based on the Group’s management and internal reporting structure that are regularly
reviewed by the Executive Committee in order to allocate resources to the segment and to assess its performance.
Business segments pay to and receive interest from the Treasury to reflect the allocation of capital and funding costs.
Business segments						
						
Corporate banking		
Includes loan and other credit facilities, deposits, trade finance products and e-commerce
				
solutions to large corporate clients (including Government related entities).			
		
Commercial banking		
Includes loans, working capital financing, trade finance and deposits products to commercial
				(mid-sized) clients.					
Personal banking		
Includes current accounts, easy access saving accounts, fixed rate deposit accounts, personal
				
loans, overdraft facilities, vehicle finance, mortgage products, loans and other credit facilities
				
to business (small) clients, high net-worth (Al Dana), mid-tier clients (personal) and modest
				income group (direct).					
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30. SEGMENTAL REPORTING (continued)
Treasury and investments		
					

Undertakes balance sheet management deals and manages the Group’s proprietary
investment portfolio. It also has derivatives for trading and risk management purposes.

Interest is charged or credited to business segments and branches to match funding transfer pricing rates which approximate the cost
of funds. 						
						
Geographical						
						
The Group operates in one geographic area, the United Arab Emirates.
Segmental analysis for the year ended 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015 is as follows:
Corporate Commercial
banking
banking

Personal Treasury &
banking investments
AED’000

AED’000

Total

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

Assets

28,988,084

9,387,243

Liabilities

25,972,735

7,149,853 14,548,864

25,294,494
22,454,974

9,471,761 7,070,447 16,027,186 57,863,888
7,319,060 13,229,375 6,631,675 49,635,084

31 December 2016
7,612,021 18,092,428 64,079,776
7,728,701 55,400,153

31 December 2015
Assets
Liabilities

Corporate Commercial
banking
banking

Personal Treasury &
banking investments

Total

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

Net interest income and net income from Islamic financing

501,924

384,123

530,741

308,365

1,725,153

Non-interest & other income

179,747

170,539

265,238

121,361

736,885

Total operating income

681,671

554,662

795,979

429,726

2,462,038

Expenses (note a)

192,000

162,014

474,769

41,747

870,530

Net provisions (note b)

(45,323)

299,372

301,449

32,945

588,443

146,677

461,386

776,218

74,692

1,458,973

534,994

93,276

19,761

355,034

1,003,065

31 December 2016

Net profit for the year
31 December 2015
Net interest income and net income from Islamic financing

486,358

412,419

449,943

291,311

1,640,031

Non-interest & other income

190,888

163,244

246,509

111,565

712,206

677,246

575,663

696,452

402,876

2,352,237

Expenses (note a)

144,867

153,835

510,104

49,978

858,784

Net provisions (note b)

128,481

132,454

145,898

20,391

427,224

273,348

286,289

656,002

70,369

1,286,008

403,898

289,374

40,450

332,507

1,066,229

Total operating income

Net profit for the year
(a)
(b)

This includes staff and other expenses and depreciation and amortization.
This includes impairment allowances on loans and advances and Islamic financing, recoveries, impairment allowance
ton investment securities and impairment allowance against investment properties.
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31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES							
						

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, Investment Corporation of Dubai (“ICD”) owns 20% share capital of the Bank.
ICD is wholly owned by the Government of Dubai (the “Government”). 						
						
Other than the transactions disclosed below, the Group enters into transactions with other Government entities. In accordance with
the exemption available in the revised IAS 24, the other transactions with such related Government entities are not collectively or
individually significant and have not been disclosed.						
						
The Group in the ordinary course of business enters into transactions with major shareholders, directors, key management personnel
and their related entities. The terms of these transactions are approved by the Group’s Board of Directors.
Directors and key
management personnel

Loans and advances and Islamic financing, net

Government related
parties

Other related parties

2016

2015

2016

2015

2016

2015

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

172,873

187,636

1,998,853

1,616,071

1,001,567

829,458

Due from banks

-

-

275,475

600,000

-

-

Investment securities

-

-

1,344,038

1,191,636

-

-

Acceptances

-

-

216,067

-

11,792

10,850

Letters of credit

-

-

-

-

22,698

14,776

Letters of guarantees

-

-

172,595

172,595

711,539

515,466

17,003

15,732

1,128,803

1,316,826

580,451

467,478

Undrawn commitments to
extend credit
Due to banks
Customers’ deposits and Islamic customers’ deposits
Interest income and commission income
Interest expense
Dividend from an associate

-

-

18,846

-

-

-

24,884

15,775

5,134,321

5,102,561

1,702,570

2,562,735

7,498

8,505

60,926

43,518

37,804

31,262

54

10

74,785

46,173

30,297

24,961

-

-

-

-

2,662

6,653

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group,
directly or indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of the Group.
Other related parties represents major shareholders and parties related to directors, key management personnel. 				
		
The terms of transactions with related parties are comparable to third party transactions and do not involve more than normal amount of risk.
					
No specific allowance for impairment losses has been made on balances with key management personnel and their immediate relations at the year
end.						
						
Proposed directors remuneration for 2016 AED 11 million (2015: 11 million) is reflected in consolidated statement of changes in equity. Sitting fees
paid to directors for attending committee meetings during the year ended 31 December 2016 amounted to AED 2.9 million (2015: AED 2.9 million).

Key management compensation

Salaries
Post-employment benefits
Other benefits

2016

2015

AED’000

AED’000

14,284

11,835

648

786

5,935

7,622
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32. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 								
32.1 Risk Governance						
								
The Board of Directors (the “Board”) has the overall responsibility for the operations and the financial stability of the Group, and
ensures that the interests of shareholders, depositors, creditors, employees and other stakeholders, including the banking regulators
and supervisors, are addressed. The Board is responsible for strategic direction, management oversight and adequate control with the
ultimate objective of promoting the success and long–term value of the Bank. The Board is also responsible for the overall framework
of the risk governance, management, determining risk strategy, setting the Group’s risk limits and ensuring that risk exposure is
monitored, controlled effectively and kept within set limits. Additionally, it is responsible for establishing a clearly defined risk
management structure and for approval of the risk policies and procedures as well as management of all risks related to the Group.
					
In order to effectively discharge this responsibility the Board is assisted by various Board Committees, namely Board Risk Committee
(BRC), Audit & Compliance Committee (ACC), Credit & Investment Committee(CIC) and Nomination & Remuneration Committee
(REMCO).						
								
Management actively manages risk, primarily through the Risk Department with oversight by the Executive Committee (EXCO),
Business Committee (BC), Assets & Liabilities Committee (ALCO), Credit Committee (CC), IT Steering Committee (ITSC),
Information Security Risk Committee (ISRC), Compliance Committee (CCO), Investment Committee (IC) and Human Resources
Committee (HRC).						
								
32.2 Control Environment						
								
a) Group Risk 						
								
Group Risk Department comprises credit, market, operational and IT risks units. Its responsibilities include the following:
•

Developing a strategy, policy and framework for risk management such that these are aligned with
business requirements;					
• Providing support to the Group in implementation of the framework;						
• Bringing together analysis of risk concentrations and sensitivities across the Group;						
• Acting as a point of reference for risk and control matters, providing advice to management, sharing best
practices and carrying out special reviews as directed by ALCO; and					
• Providing independent assessment of, and challenge to the business areas’ risk management and profiles
to ensure that they are maintained in a robust manner.						
								
b) Internal Audit 						
								
The role of the Internal Audit Department within the Group is to provide independent and objective assurance that the process for
identifying, evaluating and managing significant risks faced by the Group is appropriate and effectively applied. In addition, it also
provides an independent check on the compliance with laws and regulations and measuring compliance with the Group’s policies
and procedures. Additionally, Internal Audit provides consulting services which are advisory in nature, and are generally performed
at the specific request of the ACC or Management.						
								
It is led by the Head of Internal Audit who reports to the ACC of the Board of Directors, with administrative reporting to the Chief
Executive Officer of the Bank.						
					
To perform its role effectively, Internal Audit has organizational independence from management, to enable unrestricted evaluation of
management activities and personnel. The Internal Audit Charter empowers it to have full, free and effective access at all reasonable
times to all records, documents and employees of the Group. Internal Audit has direct access to the Chairman of the ACC and Chief
Executive Officer of the Bank.						
								
To determine whether the Internal Audit Function is functioning effectively, the ACC shall:					
•

Assess the appropriateness of the Internal Audit Charter once each year;
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32. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
32.2 Control Environment (continued)
b) Internal Audit (continued)
•
•

Assess the adequacy of resources available, both in terms of skills and funding once each year; and				
Sponsor external assessments, at least once every three (3) years, by a qualified, independent
reviewer from outside the Group.					
								
c) Internal Control						
								
Board of Directors and Management are responsible for developing and maintaining the existence of a sound Internal Control System
and procedures that meet international standards and fulfill the requirements of the Group’s management and external regulatory
bodies. The internal control system should be capable of ensuring the achievement of the following: 				
		
• Accuracy and integrity of financial and operational statements issued by the Group;						
• Effectiveness and efficiency of the Group’s operational activities;						
• Effectiveness of measures and procedures set to safeguard the Group’s assets and properties; and				
• Compatibility with laws, legislations and regulations in force as well as policies pertinent to
internal operational procedures.
Executive management constantly monitors and assesses the efficiency and effectiveness of internal control procedures and their
ability to achieve stated objectives and their furtherance and enhancement.						
								
The functions and responsibilities of the Internal Control Department include but not limited to:					
•
•

Ensuring that the Group’s operational policies, processes and controls are adhered to;						
Ensuring that proper internal controls are in place and that they are functioning as designed in a
timely and effective manner;						
• Periodic review of the Group’s internal control system in order to identify areas where internal
controls may be weak, not present and areas where there appear tobbe excessive controls
resulting in operational inefficiency so as to suggest ways to rectify the same;					
• Enabling the management to conduct an annual review of the efficiency of the internal control
system and report its findings; and						
• Monitoring of operational activities and overseeing operational controls being exercised to ensure
that these are timely and effective.
					
			
d) Compliance and Fraud prevention						
								
The process of monitoring compliance is an independent task which aims at ensuring that the Group is in compliance with all
applicable laws, regulations, instructions, directives, codes of conduct and sound banking standards and practices as issued by relevant
authorities.						
								
The Board of Directors takes necessary measures to further the values of integrity and sound professional conduct within the Group
promoting a culture of compliance in letter and spirit of applicable laws, regulations, instructions and standards. 			
			
The mission and role of compliance, AML and Fraud prevention department is to:						
• ensuring compliance risks are adequately identified, assessed, monitored and controlled in conjunction
with Business and other control functions;”						
• ensuring senior management is fully informed of significant compliance issues and plans for resolution;
• contributing to a “no surprise” compliance culture by educating and communicating compliance
awareness throughout the Group;						
• aligning annual compliance plans with business strategies and goals; and							
• meet regulatory expectations, FATCA and CRS requirements.						
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32. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
32.2 Control Environment (continued)
d) Compliance and Fraud prevention (continued)
Fraud prevention
					
The Bank has a dedicated Fraud Prevention and Investigation Unit that assists in identification, detection, and verification of potential
or actual fraud incidents including quantification and recoupment of any losses sustained as a result of such incident. The purpose
is to manage susceptibility of bank’s assets and processes to fraud risk with a view to reducing it and to raise the level of fraud
awareness amongst employees and other stakeholders.
		
e) Whistle Blowing						
								
A set of arrangements has been designed to enable employees to confidentially report concerns about any potential violations, enabling
the investigation and follow up of such concerns independently and discreetly through the whistle blowing policy. Such arrangements
are supervised by the ACC and in coordination with the executive management.
32.3 Disclosure policy 						
								
The Group has laid down the disclosure policy to ensure compliance with all regulations and guidelines issued by the lead regulator
Central Bank of the UAE (CBUAE), International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), Securities and Commodities Authority
(SCA) and Dubai Financial Market (DFM).
The following are the key features of the Group’s disclosure policy concerning disclosure of financial information:
a) Materiality thresholds						
								
Information is material if its omission or misstatement could influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
consolidated financial statements. Materiality depends on the size of the item or error judged in the particular circumstances of its
omission or misstatement, and / or any material information that might affect the share price. The Group, in order to ensure adequate
disclosure lays down qualitative materiality threshold, so that no material information is omitted or misstated; at the same time it
does not jeopardize its competitive position. 						
								
b) Control framework						
								
In order to ensure true and fair disclosure, the Group has established controls including detailed procedures for finalization and
review of financial disclosures. In addition, the consolidated financial statements are subject to a quarterly review and year end audit
procedures by the Group’s external auditors.						
								
c) Frequency and medium of disclosure						
								
Interim financial results are disclosed on a quarterly basis while complete consolidated financial statements complying with the
requirements of IFRS, Basel II Pillar 3, relevant laws of the U.A.E, SCA requirement and other guidelines from CBUAE is made on
annual basis. Disclosures of material non-public financial information are made as follows:					
•
•
•
•

Uploading quarterly reviewed and annual audited consolidated financial statements along with
Directors’ report to DFM and SCA websites;”						
Posting quarterly and annual consolidated financial statements on the Group’s website; 					
Publishing of annual audited consolidated financial statements in both Arabic and English newspapers
after the approval of the Central Bank of UAE and the Shareholders at the Annual General Meeting (AGM);
Management discussion and analysis in Arabic and English newspapers in a manner that ensures
wide dissemination; and”						
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32.3 Disclosure policy (continued)
c) Frequency and medium of disclosure (continued)
• Publication of the annual report which includes audited consolidated financial statements.				
• Investor’s pack is presented on Bank’s website on a quarterly and annual basis.						
								
33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT						
								
a) Introduction and overview						
								
The Group has exposure to the following primary risks: 						
• Credit risk						
• Liquidity risk						
• Market risk						
• Operational risk
					
								
Risk is inherent to the Group’s business and activities. The Group’s ability to identify, assess, monitor and manage each type of risk
to which the Group is exposed is an important factor in its financial stability, performance and reputation.				
		
The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk
limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly
to reflect changes in market conditions, products and services offered. The Group, through its training, management standards and
procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment, in which all employees understand their roles and
obligations.						
								
The Board Risk Committee (BRC) is responsible for monitoring compliance with the Group’s risk management policies and procedures,
and for reviewing the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group. The Group’s BRC
is assisted in these functions by Internal Audit, which undertakes both regular and ad-hoc reviews of risk management controls and
procedures, the results of which are reported to the Group BRC as well as ACC.						
								
This note presents information relating to the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies and processes
for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s management of capital.						
								
b) Credit risk 						
								
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual
obligations arising principally from the Group’s loans and advances, Islamic financing, amounts due from banks and investment in
debt securities. For reporting purpose credit risk on Islamic financing is reported as component of credit risk on loans and advances.
For risk management purposes, credit risk arising on trading investments is managed independently. 				
		
(i) Management of credit risk
Credit Committee (CC) manages the credit risk of the Group by continuous review and update of credit limits, credit policies,
process and frame-work, the approval of specific exposures and work out proposals, constant revaluation of the loans portfolio and
the sufficiency of provisions thereof. 						
					
(ii) Impaired loans and advances, Islamic financing and investment in debt securities
Individually impaired loans and advances, Islamic financing and investment in debt securities are financial assets for which the Group
determines that there is objective evidence of impairment and it is probable that it will be unable to collect all principal and interest
due according to the contractual terms of the agreements.						
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)						
								
b) Credit risk (continued)

(ii) Impaired loans and advances, Islamic financing and investment in debt securities (continued)
The Group Credit Risk Rating Methodology, which has been internally developed based on actual historical data, is in line with the
requirements set out in the Basel II Accord and has a 14-grades frame-work, whereby:						
•
•
•

The first 9 grades are assigned to non-defaulting borrowers / performing accounts; 						
Grade 10 reflects irregular accounts; and 						
The last 4 grades are for defaulting borrowers / non- performing accounts.
Grades

Asset quality

Risk significance

1

Normal

Good, top performing assets and debt securities with External Credit
Assessment (ECA) of “ A” and better than “ A” and unrated bonds internally
assessed as top performing.

2-5

Normal

Good, above average performing assets

6-9

Normal

Good, below average performing assets

10

OLEM

Watch-list loans / performing

11-12

Sub-standard

13

Doubtful

14

Loss

Substandard - Interest Suspended / Specific provision starts / non-performing
Doubtful of recovery / non-performing
Loss (fully provided for, or written off) / non-performing

The methodology provides a multi-dimensional approach to the Group’s Credit Risk Rating, where credit is assessed and rated on
two dimensions, as follows:
•
•

1st Dimension: which assesses / rates the borrower’s probability of Default (PD); and					
2nd Dimension: which assesses / rates the facility and the Loss-Given Default (LGD).

Both dimensions create a Credit-Risk Rating Grid/Matrix which plays a key role in pricing, approval, and credit monitoring. In
order to achieve this, the Group has priced facilities using Risk Adjusted Return on Capital (RAROC).				
(iii) Past due but not impaired loans						
								
These are the loans where contractual interest or principal payments are past due, but the Group believes that impairment is not
appropriate on the basis of the level of security/collateral available and/or the stage of collection of amounts owed to the Group.
					
(iv) Loans with renegotiated terms 											
		
Loans with renegotiated terms include loans, the repayment plan of which have been rescheduled with no other concession in amount
or rate of interest. Rescheduling activity is designed to manage customer relationships. Following rescheduling, an overdue account
will normally be reset from delinquent to current status. Rescheduling is done based on indications or criteria which, in the opinion of
management, evidence the probability that payment will continue. Management continuously monitors the progress on renegotiated
loans to ensure compliance with the terms at all times. 						
								
(v) Restructured performing loans / under restructuring						
								
Restructured performing loans or loans under restructuring represent loans, whose terms have been restructured or are under
restructuring and involve a concession in rate of interest. These loans are not delinquent; however appropriate impairment loss is
recognised on such loans. 						
At 31 December 2016, restructured performing loans and loans under restructuring amount to AED 638.2 million (2015: AED 631.8
million).
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b) Credit risk (continued)						
								
(vi) Exposure to credit risk 					
								
The Group measures its exposure to credit risk by reference to gross carrying amount of financial assets less interest suspended and
impairment losses, if any.						
Loans and receivables

Due from banks

Debt securities

2016

2015

2016

2015

2016

2015

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

8,908,874

9,304,986

3,724,254

2,591,717

5,284,847

4,382,828

30,110,308

25,929,482

-

-

1,913,012

1,826,623

2,089,454

2,055,111

-

-

-

-

41,108,636

37,289,579

3,724,254

2,591,717

7,197,859

6,209,451

Less than 30 days

254,621

341,710

-

-

-

-

30 - 60 days

180,610

411,620

-

-

-

-

60 - 90 days

136,396

206,157

-

-

-

-

Over 90 days

332,473

553,196

-

-

-

-

Carrying amount

904,100

1,512,684

-

-

-

-

Grade 11 & 12: Substandard

793,390

1,142,155

-

-

-

-

Grade 13: Doubtful

566,705

1,132,527

-

-

-

-

Grade 14: Loss

1,202,040

342,423

-

-

-

-

Carrying amount

2,562,135

2,617,105

-

-

-

-

92,525

68,094

-

-

-

-

381,535

208,115

-

-

-

-

64,907

1,869

-

-

-

-

538,967

278,078

-

-

-

-

Total carrying amount

45,113,838

41,697,446

3,724,254

2,591,717

7,197,859

6,209,451

Specific provision for impairment

(1,215,674)

(1,009,465)

-

-

-

-

Portfolio provision for impairment related to (iv) above

(213,522)

(98,450)

-

-

-

-

Specific provision for individually restructured loans
and under restructuring /OLEM

(420,113)

(507,978)

-

-

-

-

Interest in suspense

(530,661)

(381,943)

-

-

-

-

Collective provision for impairment related to
(i) and (ii) above

(771,330)

(678,789)

-

-

-

-

(3,151,300)

(2,676,625)

-

-

-

-

41,962,538 39,020,821

3,724,254

2,591,717

7,197,859

6,209,451

Neither past due nor impaired
Grades 1: good, top performing assets
Grade 2-9: good, performing assets
Grade 10: watch- list loans /performing

Carrying amount
Past due but not impaired
In Grade 1 to 10

Individually impaired

Impaired on portfolio basis – Retail
Grade 11 & 12: Substandard
Grade 13: Doubtful
Grade 14: Loss

Carrying amount

Total provisions for impairment
Carrying amount net of impairment
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)						

								
b) Credit risk (continued)						
								
(vii) Allowances for impairment						
								
The Group establishes an allowance for impairment losses that represents its estimate of incurred losses in its loan portfolio. The main
components of this allowance are specific loss component that relate to individually significant exposures, and a collective loan loss
allowance established for group of homogeneous assets in respect of losses that have been incurred but have not been identified on
loans subject to individual assessment for impairment. Assets carried at fair value through profit or loss is not subject to impairment
testing as the measure of fair value reflects the credit quality of each asset.						
The Group monitors concentrations of its impaired loans by sector and by geographic location. An analysis of concentrations of
impaired (excluding restructured loans / under restructuring) loans by sector is shown below:
2016

Impaired
loans

Collateral

Specific provision and
interest in suspense

Commercial and Business:-

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

Manufacturing

44,773

5,151

22,329

Construction

12,193

1,050

6,219

267,408

174,639

106,734

1,311,942

206,968

1,013,674

Services

763,278

501,031

324,591

Business and investment

222,114

8,757

195,916

2,621,708

897,596

1,669,463

Banks and financial institutions

-

-

-

Government and public sector entities

-

-

-

Personal - mortgage

305,016

206,875

169,359

Personal - loans

165,594

80

115,429

8,784

2,660

5,606

3,101,102

1,107,211

1,959,857

56,711

25,514

46,039

Real estate
Trade

Total commercial and business

Others

Total carrying amount
2015
Commercial and Business:Manufacturing
Construction

16,026

-

7,633

Real estate

294,073

248,974

116,399

Trade

944,064

333,284

697,679

1,030,291

95,467

315,293

164,713

16,481

86,993

2,505,878

719,720

1,270,036

Banks and financial institutions

-

-

-

Government and public sector entities

-

-

-

Personal - mortgage

270,912

182,789

131,351

Personal - loans

106,956

-

77,141

11,437

1,764

11,330

2,895,183

904,273

1,489,858

Services
Business and investment

Total commercial and business

Others

Total carrying amount
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)						

								
b) Credit risk (continued)						
								
(vii) Allowances for impairment (continued)						
								
In addition to the specific provision, the Group held AED 771.3 million (2015: AED 678.8 million) as collective provisions. 		
				
All impaired loans are located in one geographic area i.e. the United Arab Emirates. The value of collateral is restricted to lower of
loan exposure or realisable value of the collateral.						
The carrying value of unfunded exposures pertaining to impaired loans amounted to AED 98.7 million (2015: AED 112.1 million).
Set out below is an analysis of the gross and net (of provisions for impairment) amounts of individually impaired assets by risk grade:

Gross

Specific provision and
interest in suspense

Net

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

Grade11&12: Substandard

793,390

243,175

550,215

Grade 13: Doubtful

566,705

334,678

232,027

Grade 14: Loss

1,202,040

1,041,767

160,273

Total

2,562,135

1,619,620

942,515

Grade11&12: Substandard

1,142,155

291,690

850,465

Grade 13: Doubtful

1,132,527

748,117

384,410

342,423

259,599

82,824

2,617,105

1,299,406

1,317,699

31 December 2016

31 December 2015

Grade 14: Loss

Total

In addition to specific provisions and interest in suspense the Group also holds collaterals against the non-performing loans. Realisable
value of these collaterals is taken into account to calculate provision requirement.
(viii) Write - off policy						
The Group writes off a loan / investment in debt security (and any related allowances for impairment) when the Group Credit
Committee determines that the loan / security is uncollectible. This determination is reached after considering information such
as the significant deterioration in the borrower’s/issuer’s financial position such that the borrower / issuer can no longer pay the
obligation, or proceeds from collateral will not be sufficient to pay back the entire exposure or all possible efforts of collecting the
amounts have been exhausted.
For smaller balances of standardized loans, write off decisions are generally based on a product-specific past due status.
(ix) Collateral						
The Group holds collateral against loans and advances in the form of cash, guarantees, mortgages and liens over properties or other
securities over assets. Estimates of fair value are based on the value of collateral assessed at the time of borrowing, and are subsequently
monitored and updated on a periodic basis. Generally, collateral is not held against debt securities and amounts due from banks, and
no such collateral was held at 31 December 2016 or 2015.

Annual Report 2016 |

81

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) For the year ended 31 December 2016
33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)						
								
b) Credit risk (continued)						
								
(ix) Collateral (continued)
Analysis of collateral by type is presented in the following table:

Pledged deposits
Properties

2016

2015

AED’000

AED’000

1,650,326

1,762,628

12,328,873

12,502,324

1,132,019

1,331,345

Pledge of shares

863,324

844,874

Government and bank guarantees

149,342

115,823

Bills discounted-cheques

622,751

657,547

50,830

170,651

16,797,465

17,385,192

Hypothecation & mortgages

Others

Total collaterals
The above represents collateral value restricted to the lower of loan balance or collateral value.

(x) Concentration 							

Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities or activities in same geographic region or have
similar economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political
or other conditions. The following tables set out the concentration of credit risk by sector, geography and currency.

Concentration of credit risk by sector for 2016
Cash,
balances
with
Central
bank and
other assets

Loans and
advances
and Islamic
financing

Due from
banks

Equity
securities
Debt and fund of
securities
funds

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

Manufacturing

1,183,406

-

-

-

-

1,183,406

1,043,931

580,419

Construction

1,412,070

-

-

-

-

1,412,070

820,751

422,675

Real estate

4,550,842

-

268,021

9,945

-

4,828,808

682,483

1,588,460

Trade

7,362,536

-

-

-

-

7,362,536

2,617,930

4,220,127

Total
funded
Undrawn
exposures commitments

Contingent
liabilities
and
acceptances

Concentration by sector
Commercial and Business:-

6,666,446

-

-

94,666

-

6,761,112

2,333,058

4,578,323

Business and investment

11,993,430

-

195,525

-

-

12,188,955

2,579,169

145,183

Total commercial
and business

33,168,730

-

463,546

104,611

-

33,736,887

10,077,322

11,535,187

Banks and financial
institutions

910,237

3,724,254

3,418,724

109,647

77,768

8,240,630

1,561,452

598,777

Government and public
sector entities

5,056,247

-

3,315,589

-

6,197,284

14,569,120

1,777,603

360,053

Personal-mortgage

2,308,945

-

-

-

-

2,308,945

55,069

-

Personal-schematic

3,276,700

-

-

-

-

3,276,700

730,631

23,066

392,979

-

-

6,160

1,659,338

2,058,477

288,116

143,916

45,113,838 3,724,254

7,197,859

220,418

7,934,390 64,190,759

14,490,193

12,660,999

Services

Others

Total carrying amount
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)						
								
b) Credit risk (continued)						
								
(x) Concentration (continued)
Concentration of credit risk by sector for 2015
Cash,
balances
with
Central
bank and Total funded
other assets
exposures

Loans and
advances
and Islamic
financing

Due from
banks

Equity
securities
Debt and fund of
securities
funds

Undrawn
commitments

Contingent
liabilities
and
acceptances

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’ 000

Manufacturing

1,508,709

-

-

-

-

1,508,709

434,304

353,446

Construction

1,148,045

-

-

Real estate

3,863,885

-

112,976

-

-

1,148,045

1,080,241

300,614

7,922

-

3,984,783

639,769

878,333

7,345,095

4,299,972

3,375,498

Concentration by sector

Commercial and Business:-

Trade

-

-

-

-

7,345,095

Services

5,796,587

-

-

84,425

-

5,881,012

Business and investment

10,405,974

-

148,149

-

-

10,554,123

2,640,092

25,881

Total commercial and
business

30,068,295

-

261,125

92,347

-

30,421,767

12,650,842

8,875,623

771,527

2,591,717

3,200,628

312,135

82,029

6,958,036

886,256

628,966

Government and public sector
entities

5,460,304

-

2,747,698

-

6,137,668

14,345,670

2,964,165

209,173

Personal-mortgage

2,296,432

-

-

-

-

2,296,432

28,772

-

Personal-schematic

2,697,381

-

-

-

-

2,697,381

329,511

19,106

403,507

-

-

9,096

1,538,506

1,951,109

363,059

1,078,282

41,697,446 2,591,717 6,209,451

413,578

Banks and financial institutions

Others

Total carrying amount

3,556,464

3,941,851

7,758,203 58,670,395 17,222,605 10,811,150

Acceptances are part of unfunded exposures; in line with the Basel II, Pillar 3 disclosure requirements.			
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)						
								
b) Credit risk (continued)						
								
(x) Concentration (continued)
Concentration of credit risk by geographic location:
Cash,
Equity
balances
Contingent
securities with Central
liabilities
and fund of
bank and Total funded
Undrawn
and
funds other assets
exposures commitments acceptances

Loans and
advances and
Islamic
financing

Due from
banks

Debt
securities

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

UAE

44,184,796

1,397,924

4,549,311

144,931

7,934,390

58,211,352

14,315,967

12,059,074

GCC

372,741

626,540

2,034,519

11,701

-

3,045,501

28,744

76,094

57,724

37,139

-

-

-

94,863

68,650

26,049

2016
Concentration by
location

Middle East

127,405

1,133,596

186,457

63,786

-

1,511,244

5,326

219,712

USA

-

61,513

116,866

-

-

178,379

-

71,476

Asia

5,399

406,851

264,190

-

-

676,440

71,506

202,316

365,773

60,691

46,516

-

-

472,980

-

6,278

45,113,838

3,724,254

7,197,859

220,418

7,934,390

64,190,759

UAE

41,144,705

1,217,948

4,255,371

149,871

7,758,203

54,526,098

17,056,790

10,202,408

GCC

342,041

623,551

1,229,889

21,127

-

2,216,608

41,763

178,348

1,049

38,276

-

-

-

39,325

1,594

61,375

83,982

411,377

225,398

242,580

-

963,337

107,467

286,657

USA

-

36,156

59,250

-

-

95,406

-

70,854

Asia

19,749

206,717

395,424

-

-

621,890

14,991

11,508

105,920

57,692

44,119

-

-

207,731

-

-

41,697,446

2,591,717

6,209,451

413,578

7,758,203

58,670,395

Europe

Others

Total carrying
amount

14,490,193 12,660,999

2015
Concentration by
location

Middle East
Europe

Others

Total carrying
amount
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)						
								
b) Credit risk (continued)						
								
(x) Concentration (continued)
Concentration of credit risk by currency:

Loans and
advances
and Islamic
financing

Due from
banks

Cash,
balances
Equity with Central
Contingent
Debt securities and
bank and Total funded
Undrawn liabilities and
securities fund of funds other assets
exposures commitments acceptances

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

2016
Concentration by
currency
38,681,032

475,017

28,064

144,931

7,453,032

46,782,076

11,124,243

9,416,001

Other currencies

6,432,806

3,249,237

7,169,795

75,487

481,358

17,408,683

3,365,950

3,244,998

Total carrying
amount

45,113,838

3,724,254

7,197,859

220,418

7,934,390

64,190,759

14,490,193

12,660,999

35,263,071

670,021

30,016

149,413

7,428,834

43,541,355

14,965,007

9,122,744

Other currencies

6,434,375

1,921,696

6,179,435

264,165

329,369

15,129,040

2,257,598

1,688,406

Total carrying
amount

41,697,446

2,591,717

6,209,451

413,578

7,758,203

58,670,395

17,222,605

10,811,150

AED

2015
Concentration by
currency
AED

Majority of assets denominated in other currencies are in USD to which AED is pegged.
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)							
									
c) Settlement risk							
									
The Group’s activities may give rise to risk at the time of settlement of transactions and trades. Settlement risk is the risk of loss due
to the failure of counterparty to honour its obligations to deliver cash, securities or other assets as contractually due. Any delays
in settlement are rare and are monitored and quantified as part of the Group’s Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Procedures
(ICAAP) framework and Operational Risk Management.
			
For certain types of transactions, the Group mitigates this risk by conducting settlements through a settlement / clearing agent to
ensure that a trade is settled only when both parties have fulfilled their contractual settlement obligations. Settlement limits form part
of the credit approval / limit monitoring process described above. Acceptance of settlement risk on free settlement trades requires
transaction specific or counterparty specific approvals from the Group Risk Management Department.				
			
d) Liquidity risk							
									
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting its obligations associated with financial liabilities that are
settled by delivering cash or other financial assets. It includes the risk of the inability to fund assets at contracted maturities and rates
and the inability to liquidate assets at reasonable prices and in the required timeframe and the inability to meet obligations as they
become due. Liquidity risk can be caused by market disruptions or credit downgrades which may cause certain sources of funding
to diminish.							
									
(i) Management of liquidity risk							
Liquidity risk is managed by the Treasury and Asset and Liability management (ALM) department in line with the regulatory, internal
policies and guidelines. The Group’s approach to manage liquidity risk is to ensure that it has adequate funding from diversified
sources at all times to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses
or risking damage of the Group’s reputation.
				
Funds are raised using a broad range of instruments including customers’ deposits, medium term borrowings, money market
instruments, subordinated debts and capital. The treasury and ALM department monitors the liquidity profile of financial assets and
liabilities and the projected cash flows arising from existing and future business. Treasury maintains a portfolio of short-term liquid
assets and inter-bank placements to ensure that sufficient liquidity is maintained. The daily liquidity position is monitored and regular
liquidity stress testing is conducted under a variety of scenarios covering both normal and abnormal market conditions. 		
The Group’s liquidity management process, as carried out within the Group and monitored by Group’s treasury, includes:		
					
•
Day to day funding is managed by monitoring future cash flows to ensure that requirements can be met - these include
replenishment of funds as they mature or are borrowed by customers. The Group maintains an active presence in global money
market to facilitate funding activities; 							
•
Maintenance of a portfolio of highly marketable assets that can easily be liquidated as protection against any unforeseen
interruption to cash flow; 							
•
Managing balance sheet liquidity ratios against internal and regulatory requirements; 					
•
Managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities; and								
•
Repurchase arrangements with various Banks which allow it to repo its fixed income investments to meet any liquidity needs
that may arise.
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)							
									
d) Liquidity risk (continued)							
									
(ii) Exposure to liquidity risk							

The key measure used by the Group for measuring liquidity risk is the advances to stable resources ratio (regulatory ratio) which is
83.67% as at 31 December 2016 (2015: 84.55%). In addition, the Group also uses the following ratios/information on a continuous
basis for measuring liquidity risk:
• Liquid assets to total assets ratio;							
• Net loans to deposits ratio (LDR);
• Third party liabilities maturing within one month to total third party liabilities;						
• Customers’ deposits maturing within one month to total customers’ deposits; 						
• Deposits’ concentration; and							
• Basel III ratios (including LCR, NSFR, etc.) are also monitored internally and shared with the Board on quarterly basis.
						
The following table summarizes the maturity profile of the Group’s assets and liabilities based on the contractual repayment arrangements.
These do not take account of the effective maturities as indicated by the Group’s deposit retention history. The contractual maturities
of assets and liabilities have been determined on the basis of the residual period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date.
The maturity profile of the assets and liabilities at 31 December 2016 was as follows:

Total

Less than 1
month

From 1 to 3
months

From 3
months to 1
year

From 1 to 5
years

Over 5
years

No Fixed
Maturity

Assets

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

Cash and balances with Central
Bank

6,712,466

6,097,284

-

100,000

-

-

515,182

Due from banks

3,724,254

3,198,680

176,639

293,840

55,095

-

-

41,962,538

6,379,435

2,636,968

1,853,566

13,140,737

17,951,832

-

7,418,277

268,251

392,497

781,921

3,953,109

1,802,081

220,418

77,768

-

-

-

-

-

77,768

Investment properties

375,191

-

-

-

-

-

375,191

Property and equipment

355,211

-

-

-

-

-

355,211

3,056,956

229,017

771,398

2,053,558

2,983

-

-

397,115

397,115

-

-

-

-

-

64,079,776

16,569,782

3,977,502

5,082,885 17,151,924 19,753,913

1,543,770

1,560,148

1,448,418

75,000

36,730

-

-

-

43,773,824

25,549,254

7,455,098

9,216,685

1,552,269

518

-

Notes and medium term borrowings

6,080,537

-

-

-

6,080,537

-

-

Due for trade acceptances

3,056,956

229,017

771,398

2,053,558

2,983

-

-

928,688

862,966

-

-

-

-

65,722

55,400,153

28,089,655

8,301,496 11,306,973

7,635,789

518

65,722

9,516,135 19,753,395

1,478,048

Loans and advances and Islamic
financing
Investment securities
Investment in associate

Bankers acceptances
Other assets

Total assets
Liabilities and equity
Due to banks
Customers’ deposits and Islamic
customers’ deposits

Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Gap representing equity

8,679,623 (11,519,873) (4,323,994) (6,224,088)
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)						
								
d) Liquidity risk (continued)

(ii) Exposure to liquidity risk (continued)						

								

The maturity profile of the assets and liabilities at 31 December 2015 was as follows:

Total

Less than 1
month

From 1 to 3
months

From 3
months to 1
year

From 1 to
5 years

Over 5
years

No Fixed
Maturity

Assets

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

Cash and balances with Central Bank

6,668,065

5,737,668

-

400,000

-

-

530,397

Due from banks

2,591,717

2,201,996

150,976

55,095

183,650

-

-

39,020,821

5,800,632

2,247,312

1,658,659

13,063,738

16,250,480

-

6,623,029

30,947

196,567

808,196

3,811,563

1,362,178

413,578

82,029

-

-

-

-

-

82,029

Investment properties

333,761

-

-

-

-

-

333,761

Property and equipment

332,317

-

-

-

-

-

332,317

1,871,598

280,890

326,042

1,264,666

-

-

-

340,551

340,551

-

-

-

-

-

57,863,888

14,392,684

2,920,897

1,111,462

735,987

173,460

202,015

-

-

-

40,474,776

23,316,579

7,686,238

9,017,977

453,982

-

-

Notes and medium term borrowings

5,492,694

-

1,648,767

3,843,927

-

-

Due for trade acceptances

1,871,598

280,890

326,042

1,264,666

-

-

-

684,554

617,777

-

-

-

-

66,777

49,635,084

24,951,233

8,185,740 12,133,425

4,297,909

-

66,777

Loans and advances and
Islamic financing
Investment securities
Investment in associate

Bankers acceptances
Other assets

Total assets

4,186,616 17,058,951 17,612,658 1,692,082

Liabilities and equity
Due to banks
Customers’ deposits and Islamic
customers’ deposits

Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Gap representing equity

8,228,804

(10,558,549) (5,264,843) (7,946,809) 12,761,042 17,612,658 1,625,305

The table below shows the maturity of the Group’s contingent liabilities and credit commitments:

Total

Less than
1 month

From 1 to
3 months

From 3
months to
1 year

From 1 to
5 years

Over 5
years

2016

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

Contingent liabilities

9,604,043

2,337,696

2,866,603

3,940,410

430,409

28,925

Credit commitments

14,490,193

4,214,905

3,049,218

3,125,276

1,217,158

2,883,636

6,552,601 5,915,821 7,065,686

1,647,567

2,912,561

Total
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)						
								
d) Liquidity risk (continued)

(ii) Exposure to liquidity risk (continued)

2015

Total

Less than
1 month

From 1 to
3 months

From 3
months to
1 year

From 1 to
5 years

Over 5
years

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

Contingent liabilities

8,939,552

1,871,689

837,997

2,736,030

443,629

3,050,207

Credit commitments

17,222,605

5,003,277

2,801,240

2,969,760

2,530,864

3,917,464

6,874,966 3,639,237 5,705,790

2,974,493

6,967,671

Total

26,162,157

The tables below show undiscounted contractual cash flows on the Group’s financial liabilities:

Total

Less than 1
month

From 1 to
3 months

From 3
months to 1
year

From 1 to
5 years

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

1,561,294

1,448,882

75,138

37,274

-

44,106,069

25,513,657

7,577,295

9,143,975

1,871,142

Notes and medium term borrowings

6,593,642

6,235

2,309

139,696

6,445,402

Due for trade acceptances

3,056,956

229,017

771,398

2,053,558

2,983

652,224

652,224

-

-

-

27,850,015 8,426,140

11,374,503

8,319,527

Total

Less than 1
month

From 1 to
3 months

From 3
months to 1
year

From 1 to
5 years

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

1,111,857

591,738

317,231

202,888

-

40,682,845

23,343,932

7,732,719

9,148,226

457,968

Notes and medium term borrowings

6,011,794

3,192

7,701

1,806,138

4,194,763

Due for trade acceptances

1,871,598

280,890

326,042

1,264,666

446,421

446,421

-

-

-

24,666,173 8,383,693

12,421,918

4,652,731

2016
Due to banks
Customers’ deposits and Islamic customers’ deposits

Other liabilities

Total liabilities

55,970,185

2015
Due to banks
Customers› deposits and Islamic customers› deposits

Other liabilities

Total liabilities

50,124,515

e) Market risk						
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates, equity prices, foreign exchange rates and credit spreads,
will affect the Group’s income and / or value of a financial instrument. The Group manages its market risk in order to achieve
optimum returns while maintaining market risk exposures within set risk appetite.						
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)						
								
e) Market risk (continued)

(i) Management of market risk
The Board of Directors sets the risk appetite pertaining to market Risk which translates into risk limits which are closely monitored
by Group Risk Management, reported daily to senior management and discussed monthly by the ALCO.				
The Group separates its exposure to market risk between trading and non-trading portfolios with overall responsibility vested with
the ALCO. The Group Risk Management department is responsible for the development of detailed risk management policies and
for the day-to-day implementation, subject to review and approval by the ALCO.						
(ii) Exposure to interest rate risk - non trading portfolio
		
Interest rate risk arises from interest bearing financial instruments and reflects the possibility that changes in interest rates will adversely
affect the value of the financial instruments and the related income. The Group manages the risk principally through monitoring
interest rate gaps, matching the re-pricing profile of assets and liabilities and by having pre-approved limits for repricing bands. The
Group Risk Management Department monitors compliance with these limits on a daily basis and is responsible for reporting breaches
if any, to senior management. ALCO review reports on a monthly basis.							
In addition the Group also assesses the impact of defined movement in interest yield curves on its net interest income and regulatory
capital. The following is the impact of interest rate movement on net interest income and regulatory capital:

2016
Net interest income
50 b.p.
100 b.p.
AED’000
AED’000
Upward Parallel Shift
Downward Parallel Shift

17,362
(5,426)

Interest rate movement is not expected to have a material impact on the capital.
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49,663
(10,852)

2015
Net interest income
50 b.p.
100 b.p.
AED’000 AED’000
18,489
(10,010)

60,171
(20,020)
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)						
								
e) Market risk (continued)

(ii) Exposure to interest rate risk - non trading portfolio (continued)
A summary of the Group’s interest rate sensitivity position based on contractual re-pricing arrangements or maturity dates, whichever
dates are earlier is as follows:							

31 December 2016

Non-interest Less than 3 From 3 to 6
bearing
months
months

From 6
months to 1
year

Over 1 Year

Total

Assets

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

Cash and balances with Central Bank

4,112,466

2,500,000

100,000

-

-

6,712,466

Due from banks

1,070,401

2,304,918

238,745

55,095

55,095

3,724,254

Loans and advances and Islamic financing

3,101,102

33,117,735

1,558,190

1,131,254

6,205,557

45,113,838

)3,151,300(

-

-

-

-

)3,151,300(

220,418

807,516

245,304

444,810

5,700,229

7,418,277

77,768

-

-

-

-

77,768

Provisions
Investment securities
Investment in associate
Investment properties

375,191

-

-

-

-

375,191

Property and equipment

355,211

-

-

-

-

355,211

3,056,956

-

-

-

-

3,056,956

397,115

-

-

-

-

397,115

9,615,328 38,730,169

2,142,239

1,631,159

Bankers acceptances
Other assets

Total assets

11,960,881 64,079,776

Liabilities
495,615

1,027,803

36,730

-

-

1,560,148

16,175,600

17,297,137

4,475,028

4,276,020

1,550,039

43,773,824

-

1,631,596

591,799

551,442

3,305,700

6,080,537

3,056,956

-

-

-

-

3,056,956

928,688

-

-

-

-

928,688

20,656,859 19,956,536

5,103,557

4,827,462

4,855,739

55,400,153

Interest rate sensitivity gap

)11,041,531( 18,773,633 )2,961,318(

)3,196,303(

7,105,142

8,679,623

Cumulative interest rate sensitivity gap

)11,041,531(

1,574,481

8,679,623

Due to banks
Customers’ deposits and Islamic customers’ deposits
Notes and medium term borrowings
Due for trade acceptances
Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Represented by equity

7,732,102

4,770,784

8,679,623
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)						
								
e) Market risk (continued)

(ii) Exposure to interest rate risk - non trading portfolio (continued)

From 6
months to 1
year Over 1 Year

Non-interest
bearing

Less than 3
months

From 3 to 6
months

Assets

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

Cash and balances with Central Bank

3,668,065

2,600,000

-

400,000

-

6,668,065

105,858

2,484,867

992

-

-

2,591,717

2,953,197

24,470,140

1,952,116

1,763,123

10,558,870

41,697,446

(2,676,625)

-

-

-

-

(2,676,625)

413,578

576,696

237,108

575,281

4,820,366

6,623,029

82,029

-

-

-

-

82,029

Investment properties

333,761

-

-

-

-

333,761

Property and equipment

332,317

-

-

-

-

332,317

31 December 2015

Due from banks
Loans and advances and Islamic financing
Provisions
Investment securities
Investment in associate

Bankers acceptances
Other assets

Total assets

1,871,598

Total

1,871,598

340,551

-

-

-

-

340,551

7,424,329

30,131,703

2,190,216

216,975

894,487

-

-

-

1,111,462

13,525,710

14,256,133

5,567,689

3,625,076

3,500,168

40,474,776

-

1,635,552

-

-

3,857,142

5,492,694

2,738,404 15,379,236 57,863,888

Liabilities
Due to banks
Customers’ deposits and Islamic customers’ deposits
Notes and medium term borrowings
Due for trade acceptances
Other liabilities

1,871,598

1,871,598

684,554

-

-

-

Total liabilities

16,298,837

16,786,172

5,567,689

3,625,076

7,357,310 49,635,084

Interest rate sensitivity gap

(8,874,508)

13,345,531

(3,377,473)

(886,672)

8,021,926

Cumulative interest rate sensitivity gap

(8,874,508)

4,471,023

1,093,550

206,878

8,228,804

Represented by equity

-

684,554

8,228,804
8,228,804

Overall interest rate risk positions are managed by the Treasury and ALM Department, which uses investment securities, advances
to banks, deposits from banks and derivative instruments to manage the overall position arising from the Group’s activities. Interest
rate risks are assumed by ALM from the businesses through fund transfer pricing process.
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)							
											

f) Currency risk
						
Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates and arises from
financial instruments denominated in a foreign currency. The Board of Directors has set limits on positions by currency. Positions
are closely monitored and hedging strategies are used to ensure positions are maintained within established limits. At 31 December,
the Group had the following significant net exposures denominated in foreign currencies:

Net spot

Forward

Position

Position

2016

2015

AED’ 000

AED’ 000

AED’ 000

AED’ 000

(118,224)

(275,105)

(393,329)

1,447,328

17,250

347,510

364,760

336,087

4,237

(4,389)

(152)

(350)

72,958

(72,917)

41

(45)

Euro

1,345

(174)

1,171

(5,800)

Others

1,165

-

1,165

2,682

2016

2015

AED’000

AED’000

486

743

12,639

1,270

13,125

2,013

Currency

US Dollar
GCC currencies
Great Britain Pound
Japanese Yen

Net exposure

A summary of capital requirement for market risk under standardized approach of Basel II is set out below:

Foreign currency risk
Interest rate risk

g) Equity risk
The Group has defined in its trading book policy the instruments which the Group is allowed to trade. A limited trading activity takes
place in the equity market, monitored by Risk Management and in line with investment committee (IC) recommendations. Daily
stop loss limits as well as portfolio notional limits are monitored daily and reported to senior management. In addition, the Group
has classified an equity portfolio as available for sale investments.
Analysis of equity portfolio:
Publicly traded (quoted):
Equity

2016

2015

AED’000

AED’000

144,931

149,413

75,487

264,165

220,418

413,578

Privately held (unquoted):
Funds of funds investments
Total
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)							
											
g) Equity risk (continued)

Analysis of gains or (losses) on equity investments:

2016

2015

AED’000

AED’000

Realised gains on sale

27,240

26,448

Unrealised loss in P/L

-

(46)

Unrealised loss in OCI

(5,446)

(11,298)

The revaluation reserve on equity and funds of funds portfolio as at 31 December 2016 amounting to AED 20,259 thousand (2015:
AED 25,705 thousand) was considered as Tier II capital
Analysis of capital requirement for equity investments under standardized approach of Basel II:
2016

Equity
Funds of funds investment

Total

2015

AFS

Held for
trading

Total

AFS

Held for
trading

Total

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

17,392

-

17,392

17,929

-

17,929

9,058

-

9,058

31,700

-

31,700

26,450

-

26,450

49,629

-

49,629

h) Operational risk
Operational risk is defined by Basel as “The risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or
from external events, this includes legal risk but excludes strategic and reputation risks”.					
The Group’s objective is to manage operational risk, so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses and damage to the Group’s
reputation, with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures that restrict initiative, innovativeness and creativity.
The primary responsibility for the overseeing the establishment of sound operational risk management framework and monitoring
the operational risk profile of the Group vests with the senior management of the Group, The Bank has set up a cross functional
committee named Operational Risk Management Committee (ORMC) of senior management personnel to formalize this responsibility
and closely monitor key Operational Risks on a pan bank basis to support timely execution of action plans.
Accountability and responsibility is further assigned to the heads of individual units, departments or branches. This responsibility
is supported by the development of overall Group standards for the management of operational risk in the following areas:		
					
•
Requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent authorisation of transactions to eliminate scenarios
involving any conflict of interest;							
• Requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions;							
• Compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements;							
• Documentation of controls and procedures pertaining to all activities of the bank;					
• Requirements for the periodic assessment of operational risks faced, and the adequacy of controls and procedures to 		
address the risks identified;							
• Requirements for the reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial action to avoid its future recurrence;		
• Development of contingency plans to ensure continuity of business under all circumstances;					
• Training and professional development of employees at all levels so as to increase their awareness of the subject;		
• Ethical and business standards (through the Group’s approved and functional Code of Ethics);					
• Risk mitigation, including insurance wherever this is effective; and							
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)						
								
h) Operational risk (continued)
•

Whistle Blowing and Incident Reporting Policies are channels available to all staff for reporting of any loss events or other
wrongdoings.							
							
The Group has an approved framework for end-to-end management of its operational risks, which involves the active participation
of the employees at all levels. The Operational Risk Management plan places an equal emphasis on the identification, assessment,
control and reporting of operational risks and on quantification of potential risks and resultant losses therein, if any. Reports are
produced covering Operational Risk dashboards, heat-maps, loss matrices, Operational Risk register and loss databases.
The Group has in place an operational risk management system to collate operational risk information in an automated environment;
this has enabled the bank to build operational risk databases to support migration to more complex approaches for computation of
operational risk capital in the future.
			
Group Risk Management continued its efforts towards increasing bank-wide awareness about the ORM concept, by organizing
workshops, seminars and training courses on the subject, for the employees, throughout the year. On an ongoing basis, Risk and
Control Self Assessments (RCSA) are being carried out by all branches and units to identify the operational risks and assess the
effectiveness of existing controls, so as to plan any remedial actions (if required) and minimize recurrence of loss events.
Moreover, the Group conducts an assessment of disaster recovery and business continuity position, as well as detailed system risk
assessments of all new/upgraded IT systems and assessment of Operational Risk elements in any new products to be launched or
procedures to be implemented. Compliance with policies and procedures is supported by periodic reviews undertaken by Internal
Audit. A review of the insurance coverage available to the Bank is undertaken to maintain oversight of adequacy of insurance as
necessitated by the Basel guidelines. Regular updates are provided to the senior management and the Board Risk Committee (BRC)
to support their mandate to maintain adequate oversight of the Bank’s operational risk framework and status of operational risks
across all areas of the Bank.

34. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
		
34.1 Regulatory capital

The Group’s regulator, the Central Bank of the UAE, sets and monitors regulatory capital requirements.
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are as follows:							
		
•
Safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and optimize returns for shareholders; 			
•
Comply with regulatory capital requirements set by the Central Bank of the UAE.
The Group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investors, creditors and market confidence and to sustain
future development of the business. The impact of the level of capital on shareholders’ return is also recognised and the Group
recognises the need to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with greater gearing and the advantages
and security afforded by a sound capital position.
The Group also assesses its capital requirements internally taking into consideration growth requirements and business plans, and
quantifies its Regulatory and Risk / Economic Capital requirements within its integrated ICAAP Framework. Risks such as Interest
Rate Risk in the Banking Book, Concentration Risk, Strategic Risk, Legal and Compliance Risk, Stress Risk, Insurance Risk and
Reputational Risk are all part of the ICAAP.
The Group also calculates the Risk Adjusted Return on Capital (RAROC) for credit applications that are priced on a risk-adjusted
basis. RAROC calculations are also built into the Credit Appraisal System.
The Group’s regulatory capital adequacy ratio is set by the Central Bank of UAE (‘the Central Bank’). The Group has complied with
all externally imposed capital requirements throughout the year. There have been no material changes in the Group’s management
of capital during the year. The capital adequacy ratio should be a minimum of 12% analysed into two Tiers, of which Tier 1 capital
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34. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

		
34.1 Regulatory capital (continued)
adequacy must not be less than 8% as mandated by the U.A.E Central Bank.
The Group’s regulatory capital is analyzed into two tiers:
•
•

Tier 1 capital, which includes ordinary share capital, legal reserve, general reserve and retained earnings; and			
Tier 2 capital, which includes fair value reserves relating to unrealised gains / losses on investments classified as available-forsale and derivatives held as cash flow hedges and collective provision. The following limits have been applied for Tier 2 capital:
-

Total Tier 2 capital shall not exceed 67% of tier 1 capital;

-

Subordinated liabilities shall not exceed 50% of total Tier 1 capital; and

-

Collective provision shall not exceed 1.25% of total credit risk weighted assets.

34.2 Capital resources and adequacy
The table below summarizes the composition of regulatory capital and capital adequacy ratio calculation as per Basel II,
of the Group:
2016

2015

AED’000

AED’000

Share capital

2,802,734

2,802,734

Legal reserve

1,401,367

1,401,367

General reserve

1,328,025

1,227,718

Retained earnings

2,519,298

2,193,094

8,051,424

7,624,913

8,107

(6,294)

633,359

564,797

641,466

558,503

8,692,890

8,183,416

50,668,746

45,183,729

109,379

16,780

4,409,191

4,140,976

55,187,316

49,341,485

Tier 1 ratio

14.59%

15.45%

Capital adequacy ratio (Pillar) 1

15.75%

16.59%

Core Tier 1 capital

Tier 1 capital
Upper Tier 2 capital
Fair value reserve
Collective provisions (up to allowable limit)

Tier 2 capital
Total capital base
Risk weighted assets (RWA) Pillar 1
Credit risk
Market risk
Operational risk

Risk weighted assets

Capital adequacy ratio calculation is after netting off proposed distribution from capital base.
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34. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continued)

		
34.2 Capital resources and adequacy (continued)
The table below summarizes the composition of regulatory capital and capital adequacy ratio calculation as per Basel II, of the Group:
Risk weighted capital requirement							
							
The Group has adopted the standardized approach for credit risk and market risk and basic indicator approach for operational risk
for regulatory reporting purposes. The Group’s risk weighted capital requirement for credit, market and operational risk are given
below:							
							
(i) Risk weights for credit risk							
The Group has a diversified funded and unfunded credit portfolio. The exposures are classified as per the Standard Portfolio approach
mentioned under the Central Bank of UAE Basel II Capital Adequacy Framework covering the standardized approach for credit risk.
The descriptions of the counterparty classes along with the risk weights used to derive the risk weighted assets are as follows:		
					
Funded exposure						
							
Claims on sovereigns
These pertain to exposures to governments and their central banks. Claims on central banks and sovereigns are risk weighted in
accordance with their ratings from acceptable external credit assessment institutions (ECAIs), except that, for all GCC sovereigns a
0% weight has been applied.							
							
Claims on non-commercial public sector entities (PSEs)
Domestic currency claims on GCC non-commercial PSEs were treated as claims on GCC sovereign if their Central Bank or monetary
authority treats them as such. Foreign currency claims on GCC PSE were treated one grade less favorable than its sovereign i.e. 20%
risk weight were applied. Claims on other foreign non-commercial PSEs were treated one grade less favorable than its sovereign.
						
Claims on multilateral development banks (MDBs)
All MDBs are risk weighted in accordance with each bank’s credit rating except for those members listed in the World Bank Group
which are risk weighted at 0%.							
							
Claims on banks
Claims on banks are risk weighted based on the ratings assigned to them by external rating agencies, however, short term claims
denominated in local currency were assigned more favorable risk weighting. 							
							
No claim on an unrated bank would receive a risk weight lower than that applied to claims on its sovereign of incorporation.		
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34. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continued)							
							
34.2 Capital resources and adequacy (continued)
(i) Risk weights for credit risk (continued)
Funded exposure (continued)
						
							
Claims on corporate and government related entities portfolio
Claims on corporate and government related entities (entities with greater than 50% government ownership) are risk weighted in
accordance with ratings from acceptable ECAIs. Risk weight of 100% is applied on claims on unrated corporate and government
related entities.							
							
Claims on regulatory retail exposures
Retail claims that are included in the regulatory retail portfolio are assigned risk weights of 75% (except for past due loans), if they
meet the criteria mentioned in the Central Bank of UAE BASEL-II guidelines.							
							
Claims secured by residential property
A preferential risk weight of 35% was applied on claims that did not exceed AED 10 million to a single borrower and the claim was
secured by residential property with LTV of up to 85%. Other claims secured on residential property were risk weighted 100%.
Claims secured by residential property						
A preferential risk weight of 35% was applied on claims that did not exceed AED 10 million to a single borrower and the claim was
secured by residential property with LTV of up to 85%. Other claims secured on residential property were risk weighted 100%.
						
Claims secured by commercial property						
100% risk weight was applied on claims secured by commercial property.
Past due exposures							
The unsecured portion of any loan (other than a qualifying residential mortgage loan) that is past due for more than 90 days, net of
specific provisions (including partial write-offs), is risk weighted as follows:							
- 150% risk weight when specific provisions are less than 20% of the outstanding amount of loan;
- 100% risk weight when specific provisions are greater than 20% of the outstanding amount
of loan.						
							
Equity portfolios						
0% risk weight was applied on equity in trading book. Equity in banking book was risk weighted at 100%. The aggregate investments
in insurance companies (including investment in associate held as per equity accounting) amounting to AED 84,151 thousand (2015:
AED 91,877 thousand) have been risk weighted in accordance with Basel II.							
							
Other exposures							
These are risk weighted at 100%.
				
Unfunded exposure
				
For credit-related contingent items, the nominal value is converted to an exposure through the application of Credit Conversions
Factors (CCF). The CCF is at 20%, 50% or 100% depending on the type of contingent item, and is used to convert off balance sheet
notional amounts into an equivalent on balance sheet exposure.
Undrawn commitments to extend credit represent commitments that have not been drawn down or utilized at the reporting date. The
nominal amount provides the calculation base to which the CCF is applied for calculating the exposure. CCF range between 20%
and 50% for commitment with original maturity of up to one year and over one year respectively and 0% CCF is applicable for
commitments which can be unconditionally cancelled at any time.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) For the year ended 31 December 2016

34. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continued)							
							
34.2 Capital resources and adequacy (continued)
(i) Risk weights for credit risk (continued)

On & off
balance sheet

Credit risk mitigation
(CRM)

Gross
outstanding

Exposure
before
CRM

CRM

Net exposure after
credit conversion
factors (CCF)

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

7,920,694

7,920,694

-

7,919,914

46,643

326,654

326,654

-

326,654

-

9,830,482

9,830,482

-

8,405,969

3,700,018

58,501,860

58,083,684

4,291,601

37,942,308

37,317,312

Claims included in the regulatory retail portfolio

5,521,028

5,521,028

32,127

4,556,513

3,659,052

Claims secured by residential property

1,587,303

1,587,303

2,498

1,561,272

679,353

Claims secured by commercial real estate

2,543,402

2,543,402

-

2,218,189

2,218,189

Past due loans

3,524,037

1,562,243

45,240

1,468,161

1,622,476

Other assets

1,945,404

1,940,885

-

1,940,885

1,425,703

91,700,864 89,316,375 4,371,466

66,339,865

50,668,746

Asset classes

31 December 2016

Claims on sovereigns
Claims on non-commercial Public Sector
Enterprises (PSEs)
Claims on banks
Claims on corporates and government related
enterprises (GRE)

TOTAL CLAIMS
TOTAL CREDIT RISK

On & off balance sheet

Risk
weighted
assets

50,668,746
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) For the year ended 31 December 2016

34. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continued)							
							
34.2 Capital resources and adequacy (continued)
(i) Risk weights for credit risk (continued)

Asset classes
31 December 2015

On & off
balance sheet

Credit risk mitigation
(CRM)

Gross
Exposure
outstanding before CRM

On & off balance sheet

CRM

Risk
Net exposure after credit weighted assets
conversion factors (CCF)

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

Claims on sovereigns

7,293,658

7,293,658

-

7,225,959

56,028

Claims on non-commercial Public
Sector Enterprises (PSEs)

1,356,580

1,356,580

-

805,630

-

Claims on banks

7,820,830

7,820,830

-

6,963,031

2,806,128

56,103,638

55,618,505

3,539,532

33,954,034

33,010,411

Claims included in the regulatory retail portfolio

5,215,910

5,215,910

102,595

4,013,007

3,216,795

Claims secured by residential property

1,729,444

1,729,444

-

1,729,444

786,797

Claims secured by commercial real estate

2,351,454

2,351,454

-

2,351,376

2,351,376

Past due loans

3,038,484

1,525,782

33,776

1,440,863

1,455,409

Other assets

2,052,533

2,051,082

-

2,051,082

1,500,785

86,962,531 84,963,245 3,675,903

60,534,426

45,183,729

Claims on corporates and
government related enterprises (GRE)

TOTAL CLAIMS
TOTAL CREDIT RISK

45,183,729

The Group uses the following external credit assessment institutions (ECAIs): Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s and Fitch. The external
rating of ECAI is mapped to the prescribed credit quality assessment scale that in turn produces standard risk weightings. The Group
also uses various Credit Risk Mitigation techniques (CRM). The total exposure to Banks before CRM includes AED 8,958 million
(2015: AED 7,549 million) rated exposure.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued) For the year ended 31 December 2016

34. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continued)							
							
34.2 Capital resources and adequacy (continued)
(i) Risk weights for credit risk (continued)
Risk weighted assets as per standardized approach is set out below:
2016

Exposure prior to CRM
Less: Eligible financial collateral

Net exposure after CRM

2015

Exposure

Risk
weighted
assets

Exposure

Risk
weighted
assets

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

AED’000

70,711,331

55,036,110

4,371,466

4,367,364

66,339,865 50,668,746

64,210,329 48,845,843
3,675,903

3,662,114

60,534,426 45,183,729

(ii) Risk weights for market risk
Capital requirement for market risk is calculated using standardized approach. The capital requirement for market risk is analyzed
into capital requirement for interest rate risk, equity risk, foreign exchange risk and option risk.
(iii) Risk weight for operation risk
Capital requirement for operation risk is calculated using basic indicator approach. This Capital charge was computed using basic
indicator approach by multiplying the three years average gross income by a predefined beta factor.

35. COMPARATIVE FIGURES
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the presentation adopted in these consolidated financial statements,
the effect of which are considered immaterial.
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Branches

Farah Alulama
Head of
Affluent Banking

Head Office
P.O. Box 2668, Al Ittihad Road, Dubai, U.A.E.
Toll-free: 800 CBD (223)
Tel: +9714 212 1000
Fax: +9714 212 1911
Swift: CBDUAEAD
E-Mail: cbd-ho@cbd.ae

Hasan Al Marzouqi
Head of Branches Attijari Al Islami

Main Branch
P.O. Box 2668, Dubai, U.A.E.
Tel: +9714 212 1000
Fax: +9714 212 1012
Branch Manager: Abdul Wahab Galadari

Dubai Branch
P.O. Box 2668, Dubai, U.A.E.
Tel: +9714 352 3355
Fax: +9714 352 7655
Branch Manager: Talal Tareq Al Khaja

Al Maktoum Branch
P.O. Box 3393, Dubai, U.A.E.
Tel: +9714 268 3555
Fax: +9714 268 3477
Branch Manager: Abdul Basit Al Suwaidi

Jumeirah Branch
P.O. Box 2668, Dubai, U.A.E.
Tel: +9714 344 1438
Fax: +9714 344 7346
Branch Manager: Arefa Al Hashemi

Sheikh Zayed Road Branch
P.O. Box 2668, Dubai, U.A.E.
Tel: +9714 343 4777
Fax: +9714 343 6088
Branch Manager: Hind Ahmad Kamel

Umm Suqeim Branch
P.O. Box 2668, Dubai, U.A.E.
Tel: +9714 373 0700
Fax: +9714 373 0703
Branch Manager: Hussain Al Marzooqi

Al Qusais Branch
P.O. Box 2668, Dubai, U.A.E.
Tel: +9714 261 5000
Fax: +9714 261 2520
Branch Manager: Hamad Juma Al Mas

Marina Branch
P.O. Box 2668, Dubai U.A.E.
Tel: +9714 423 4888
Fax: +9714 423 4851
Branch Manager: Redha Sajwani

Al Muhaisna Branch
P.O. Box 2668, Dubai, U.A.E.
Tel: +9714 220 4222
Fax: +9714 220 7288
Branch Manager: Muna Abu Al Hassan

Jebel Ali Branch
P.O. Box 2668, Dubai, U.A.E.
Tel: +9714 881 8882
Fax: +9714 881 2252
Branch Manager: Abdolrazagh Ibrahim Parham

Al Quoz Branch
P.O. Box 2668, Dubai, UAE
Tel: +9714 330 7000
Fax: +9714 330 7701
Branch Manager: Muhannad Al Redha

Me’aisem City Center Branch
P.O. Box 2668, Dubai, UAE
Tel: +9714 366 2402
Fax: +9714 366 2503
Branch Manager: Hussain Ibrahim

Baniyas Square Branch
P.O. Box 2668, Dubai, U.A.E.
Tel: +9714 228 9000
Fax: +9714 221 8262
Branch Manager: Majid Al Marzouqi

Abu Dhabi Branch
P.O. Box 2466, Abu Dhabi, U.A.E.
Tel: +9712 626 8400
Fax: +9712 627 4120
Branch Manager: Ramzi Al Rimawi

Naturalization and Residence
Administration Branch
P.O. Box : 2668, Dubai, UAE
Tel: +9714 398 5000
Fax: +9714 398 2259
Branch Manager: Adel Al Khooly

Airport Branch
P.O. Box 2466, Abu Dhabi, U.A.E.
Tel: +9712 641 1333
Fax: +9712 6411644
Branch Manager: Jamal Ghanim Al Hemiary
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Abdolrazagh Ibrahim Parham
District Manager Jumeirah Region

Majid Al Marzouqi
District Manager Al Twar Region

Abdul Wahab Galadan
District Manager Deira Region

District Manager Abu Dhabi

Talal Tareq Al Khaja
District Manager Zabeel Region

Abdulsatar Abdulrahman
District Manager Northern Emirates

Attijari Al Islami Branches
Village Mall Branch - Abu Dhabi
P.O. Box 2466, Abu Dhabi, U.A.E.
Tel: +9712 555 5510
Fax: +9712 554 0330
Branch Manager: Hind Abbas

Main Branch
P.O. Box 2668, Dubai, U.A.E.
Tel: +9714 212 1000
Fax: +9714 212 1090
Branch Manager: Abdullah Al Mashrea

Al Ain Branch
P.O. Box 1497, Al Ain, U.A.E.
Tel: +9713 766 7800
Fax: +9713 766 6590
Branch Manager: Ala Issa Ammari

Sharjah Branch
P.O. Box 677, Sharjah, U.A.E.
Tel: +9716 574 0666
Fax: +9716 517 0150
Branch Manager: Hasan Al Marzouqi

Sharjah Branch
P.O. Box 677, Sharjah, U.A.E.
Tel: +9716 574 0666
Fax: +9716 517 0150
Branch Manager: Abdulsatar Abdulrahman

Khalidiya Branch
P.O. Box 2466, Abu Dhabi, U.A.E.
Tel: +9712 626 8400
Fax: +9712 627 4120
Branch Manager: Khalid Al Manthari

Ajman Branch
P.O. Box 4199, Ajman, U.A.E.
Tel: +9716 745 6668
Fax: +9716 744 9987
Branch Manager: Saeed Abdurrahim Al Mulla

Ras Al Khaimah Branch
P.O. Box 5849, R.A.K., U.A.E.
Tel: +9717 228 6266
Fax: +9717 228 5545
Branch Manager: Ahmed Sultan Al Noaimi

Fujairah Branch
P.O. Box 4554, Fujairah, UAE
Tel: +9719 222 5111
Fax: +9719 201 8111
Branch Manager: Abdullah Al Suwaidi

Umm Suqeim Branch
P.O. Box 2668, Dubai, U.A.E.
Tel: +9714 373 0777
Fax: +9714 373 0707
Branch Manager: Mohammad Abdulla

Cash Offices:
		
		
		
		

Kiosks:

American University in Dubai
Tel: +9714 399 1316
Dubai Chamber
Tel: +9714 202 8176
Mirdiff City Centre, Dubai
Tel: 04 – 4 167 305

		
		

Higher College of Technology, Dubai
Tel: 04 - 4 167 302

		
		

Dubai Festival City, Dubai
Tel: 04 – 4 167 307 / 7 308

		
		

Al Wahda Mall, Abu Dabia
Tel: 02 - 4 954 350
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